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Characteristics of the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

The Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading, (2) there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions
expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases
and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Chairman’s Statement

| would like to present to shareholders the annual report
of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2008 (the
“Year”).

During the Year of 2008, the Group intended to focus its
corporate resources on energy resource business, as a
result, the Group disposed of its trading business in pulps
and paper products, established a subsidiary in mainland
China to carry on trading business in petroleum-related
products in the PRC, acquired stakes in associates which
have obtained directly or indirectly through its subsidiary
a right to examine, investigate and/or explore the Coal
Contract Area located in the Philippines and entered into
a service contract with the Department of Energy of the
Philippines Government regarding the provision of their
services for the exploration, development and exploitation
of petroleum resources in an area situated at Central
Luzon Basin, the Philippines.

A corporate restructuring of the Group, by acquiring
the rest of the equity interest of Polyard Petroleum
International Company Limited (“Polyard Macau”) and
of China Sino Oil Company Limited (“China Sino Qil”),
formerly known as “Chinaoil USA (Macao) Company
Limited” from minority holders, was approved without
objection by shareholders of the Company on 14 April
2008. Polyard Macau and China Sino Oil then become
wholly-owned indirect subsidiaries of the Company
whereas the Company still beneficially owns 21% of the
participating interest in the Oil Project in Brunei. By so
doing, the intensive relationship between the Company
and counter-parts is relaxed and thus enabling the new
operators of the Oil Project to concentrate their efforts on
the exploitation and exploration works so as to speed up
the expected revenue stream of the Oil Project. Details of
the acquisitions were conveyed in the Company’s circular
to shareholders dated 28 March 2008.

During the year of 2008, the subprime crisis in the US
triggered the worldwide financial crisis. The business
volume for the trading business of petroleum-related
products was unavoidably affected. Besides, the
substantial drop in crude oil price devaluated the
Company’s investment in the Oil Project in Block M,
Brunei Reservoir.
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Chairman’s Statement

In the long run, there is a continuing demand for energy
resources and the demand may even be increasing,
especially from the developing countries such as China
and India. Therefore, we believe that there is a high
growth potential in the energy resource business.

By the setting up of a technical team, which possesses
full expertise in energy resource projects, is responsible
for the exploration of energy resources, the Group
will endeavor and may explore more opportunities in
natural energy resources business and venture in energy
resources exploration and exploration projects.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our fellow directors, staff members and
business partners throughout the years. The Company’s
directors and management will dedicate their best effort
to lead the Group to strive for the best interests for its
shareholders and business associates.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group’s
turnover decreased by 57% to HK$21,640,000 as
compared with HK$50,378,000 in 2007. Turnover in 2008
represents sales of petroleum-related products whereas
turnover in 2007 represents sales of pulps and paper
products which was discontinued during the year. The
Group recorded a loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company of approximately HK$316,756,000 in
2008 whereas a profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company of approximately HK$437,961,000
was recorded in 2007. Last year’s profit included a
gain arising on business combination of approximately
HK$487,534,000.

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year
ended 31 December 2008 amounted to approximately
HK$24,409,000, representing an increase of
approximately HK$17,587,000, equivalent to an increase
of 258% as comparing with last year. The increase was
mainly attributable to payment of directors’ remuneration,
salaries for technical team and office staff as well as
overseas travelling expenses incurred for the business
of exploration and exploitation of energy resources.
Besides, during the year, legal and professional fees
amounted to approximately HK$2,546,000 were incurred
for the acquisition of 40% interest in each of Eastern Star
Mining & Power Corp (“Eastern Star”) and Great Wall
Mining & Power Corp (“Great Wall”), both companies
were incorporated in the Philippines and have obtained
either directly or indirectly a right to explore and extract
of coal in San Miguel, the Philippines and the disposal of
a wholly-owned subsidiary, Yunnan Kanstar High Tech
Products Development Company Limited (“Kanstar High
Tech”).

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2008
amounted to approximately HK$15,878,000 (2007:
HK$4,774,000). The increase was mainly incurred for the
effective interest expenses on convertible bonds which
were issued in the last quarter of 2007, amounting to
approximately HK$15,834,000 (2007: $3,496,000).

The directors of the company do not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year 2008 (2007: nil).
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

Liquidity, Financial Resources, Capital and Gearing

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had net assets
amounted to approximately HK$579 million (2007:
HK$2,868 million) and net current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$33.4 million (2007: HK$19.7 million).
The current ratio is 29% (2007: 80%). The gearing ratio
of the Group based on the net debt to the shareholders’
equity was 63% (2007: 10%).

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in
Renminbi (“RMB”), Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) and United
States Dollars (US$) and its revenue, expenses, assets
and liabilities and borrowings are principally denominated
in RMB, HK$ and US$, which do not pose significant
foreign currency risk at present.

Employee information

The Group had a total number of staff of approximately
30 (2007: approximately 30). Remuneration packages
are reviewed on a periodical basis. Bonus is awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. Besides, a share option scheme was
adopted by the Company, pursuant to which the directors
may offer to any eligible employees (including executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and any of its subsidiaries, options to subscribe
for shares in the Company in accordance with the terms
of the share option scheme. However, save for the share
options granted prior to the listing, no other options have
been granted up to 31 December 2008. Staff cost was
approximately HK$6 million for the year as compared with
that of approximately HK$4 million in 2007.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

Business Overview
Corporate restructuring

In order to streamline the Group’s business and redeploy
its resources in a more productive manner, a corporate
restructuring as detailed in a circular issued by the
Company on 28 March 2008 was completed in April
2008.

Trading of petroleum-related products

On 31 January 2008, Polyard Petroleum (Hong Kong)
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, signed a co-operative agreement with North
Petroleum & Chemical Group Co., Ltd., a limited company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
Pursuant to the co-operative agreement, the Company’s
51% owned indirect subsidiary, Xian Polyard Petroleum &
Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Xian Polyard”) was incorporated in
the PRC and has commenced its business in May 2008.

Unfortunately, due the occurrence of the earth quake in
Sichuan in May 2008 and the recent world-wide financial
crisis as well as the significant fluctuation in crude oil
price, Xian Polyard’s business was unavoidably affected
seriously and unsuccessfully, not only failed to achieve
our target in business volume but also to obtain order
with reasonable return during the first quarter of 2009 (up
to the date of this report).
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

Investment in Philippines Coal Mine

On 11 July 2008, Polyard International Mining Co., Ltd.
(“Polyard Mining”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a conditional sale and
purchase agreement (supplemented by an agreement
dated 26 September 2008) with China International
Mining Holding Company Limited (“CIM”), an investment
holding company incorporated in Hong Kong (100%
beneficially owned by Mr. Lam Nam (“Mr. Lam”)), and
Mr. Lam pursuant to which Polyard Mining acquired
from CIM the equity interest in Mexford Holdings Limited
(“Mexford”). Upon the completion on 12 December 2008,
Polyard Mining acquired the entire issued shares and
shareholders’ loans of Mexford. Mexford is holding 40%
equity interest in each of Eastern Star and Great Wall
whereas Eastern Star owned the rest 60% equity interest
of Great Wall which, with the approval of the Philippines
Government, has obtained a right to examine, investigate
and/or explore an area of approximately 5,000 square
hectares located in San Miguel Surigao del Sur, the
Philippines, which is supposed to contain coal. If Great
Wall and the Philippines Government have measured
and agreed on the existence of the coal resource, then
with the approval of the Philippines Government, Great
Wall shall have the right to reach and extract the coal
deposits.

Disposal of pulps and paper products business

On 15 July 2008, Kanstar Hong Kong Limited (“Kanstar
HK”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and an independent third party, entered into
a sale and purchase agreement (“Disposal Agreement”),
pursuant to which Kanstar HK had agreed to dispose
of the entire registered capital of Yunnan Kanstar High
Tech Products Development Company Limited to that
independent third party.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

Investment in Central Luzon Gas Field

On 28 August 2008, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Polyard Petroleum International Company
Limited (“Polyard Macau”), and two independent third
parties, Eastsun Mining & Power Exploration Corporation
(“Eastsun”) and Cenozoil Energy Corporation (“Cenozoil”)
had entered into contract jointly as “Contractor” with the
Department of Energy of the Philippines Government
(“DOE”) regarding the provision of services for
exploration, development and exploitation of petroleum
resources in the area situated at Central Luzon Basin,
the Philippines, with a total size of 684,000 square
hectares (the “Service Contract”). Pursuant to the Service
Contract, Polyard Macau, Eastsun and Cenozoil will have
80%, 10% and 10% participating interest respectively in
the Petroleum operations.

Pursuant to the Service Contract also, the Contractor
shall fulfill the minimum exploration work commitment
amounted to US$7.2 million in the Exploration Period of 7
years commencing on the date of the Service Contract.
Under the Service Contract, such expenditure will be
recovered during the period of Production Operation up
to 70% of the gross income derived from the sales of
all petroleum, crude oil, natural gas, and/or casinghead
petroleum spirit produced.

In addition to the exploration work commitment, capital
expenditure may also be incurred in the Production
Operations, which mainly relates to expenditure of
extraction, injection, stimulation, treatment, storage,
subject to be approved by DOE, would also be recovered,
up to 70% of the gross income as mentioned in the
immediate above paragraph.

The Contractor is entitled to elect its service fee in cash
or petroleum in kind as to 40% from the remaining
balance of the gross income after deducting the operating
expense.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

The Exploration Operation will commence within 6 months
from the date of the Service Contract. The Directors
intend to sub-contract part or the entire petroleum
exploration to other qualified independent third parties
to be identified by the Company and will assign part of
the participating interest of the Service Contract to other
independent third parties.

Progress and Prospects
Crude oil and nature gas projects
Block M: Brunei Project

Being an advisable JV partner in Block M, Brunei
Darussalam, China Sino Oil Company Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is still holding
21% participating interest after the assignment of 39%
participating interest to the current Operator, Tap Energy
(Borneo) Pty. Ltd., in April 2008. The project is underway
of the following exploration and research process:

(i) 2D Seismic Reprocessing & Interpretation 1474KM?
of Seismic data reprocessing and Interpretation has
been completed;

(i)  Airborne Gravity/Magnetic Survey (3745KM?) had
already been completed in August 2008 as planned;

(i) For 2D&BD Seismic data acquisition Contract
awarded in November 2008 to the successful bidder.
The proposed seismic acquisition of 118KM* and 2D
seismic acquisition of 60KM?; and
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHAHEREEERATE

Management Discussion
and Analysis

(iv) In Year 2009, appraisal Wells Drilling Programme,
which was originally planned to share rig for the
purpose of minimizing costs by minimization of
downtime between wells, but the Operator has to
quit the idea of sharing rig due to non-availability
after a tentative negotiation. However, with slow
down of the current industry, it is believed that cost
advantages may be achieved at this time. Tendering
for rig and related materials and services has
commenced. Updated well cost may result in higher
cost than previously approved budget.

Hopefully drilling operation may start in August 2009
and later in December we may have breakthrough in
Block M as there are two wells being located and drilled
in previously proven favorable structures. Probably, as
early as in 2010, we will see steady production and even
commencement of marketing.

Central Luzon Area 2 Philippines

In 2008 Polyard Macau has also achieved significant
progress in Central Luzon Area 2 (CL2) and was awarded
a Service Contract (SC 70) with DOE on 28 August 2008.

Immediately after signing the contract, Polyard Macau
set up a branch office in the Philippines specifically for
CL2 in September 2008, Polyard Macau smoothly pushes
the project forward as the Operator and equity holder of
80%.

After collecting the well data, seismic data, reports and
maps, a primary study was taken by experts of Polyard
Macau for one year research and has achieved the aim
of optimizing drilling prospects and performance of its
annual exploration commitment.

For the purpose of making full use of available data,
optimizing traps and identifying locations for two
exploration wells (back to back), programs are specifically
designed for Seismic Data Reprocessing and Integrated
Geological Study. Drilling Program being included in
the annual work program and the budget has been
approved by DOE in December 2008 in order to ensure
an expediting progress to save cost.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

Philippines Coal Mining

In early December 2008, the DOE has approved the
budgeted work program submitted by Great Wall as the
operator of the Coal Mine in San Miguel, and that DOE
also notified Great Wall that the Coal Operating Contract
be converted as a Coal Development Contract i.e. from
exploration phase to development or production phase.

In addition, after the directors of Great Wall had tried their
best efforts, the Environmental Compliance Certificate
has been granted by the authority concerned in the
Philippines. Great Wall is now planning and preparing to
start the extraction of coal therein as soon as possible.
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Corporate Governance Report

Introduction

The Company has applied the principles and complied
with most of the code provisions set out in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2008, by establishing formal and transparent
procedures to protect and maximize the interests of
shareholders.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of
dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions in securities of the Company.
Upon the Company’s specific enquiry, each director
had confirmed that during the year ended 31 December
2008, he had fully complied with the required standard of
dealings and there was no event of non-compliance.

Board of Directors

The Board, which currently comprises 6 directors, is
responsible for supervising the management of the
Group. Details of the Chairman and the other directors
of the Group are set in the section “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” of this report. All
directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Group.

In early January 2008, the Company had fewer than
3 independent non-executive directors and did not
comply with the requirements under Rule 5.05(1) of the
GEM Listing Rules. Following the appointment of a new
independent non-executive director in January 2008
within the prescribed period set forth in Rules 5.06
and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company is in
compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing
Rules, and has three independent non-executive directors
and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company has received from each independent
non-executive director an annual confirmation of his
independence, and the Company considers such
directors to be independent in accordance with each and
the various guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

With the various experience of both the executive
directors and the non-executive directors and the nature
of the Group’s business, the Board considered that the
directors have a balance of skills and experience for the
business of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
means of electronic communication at least four
times a year. At least 14 days’ notice of regular board
meetings were given to all directors, who were all given
an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for
discussion. The Company Secretary assists the directors
in preparing the agenda for the meeting, and ensures
that all applicable rules and regulations regarding the
meetings are observed.

The attendance record of the individual directors at the
Board meetings during the year is set out below:
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PRIARATRBERN  2REFTEARESR
HENERIAGEZRE ARAWEBDES
REHREESRE  AEREBSIHORNEM
BEE TR METT o

AEE REFEERLEEFZHFECEH
FT

Attendance
R E
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. KUAI Wei eME A 23
Mr. LIN Zhang MOz E 25
Mr. CAO Xuejun BEFLA 15
Independent non-executive directors: BIAEHITES
Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong BRfEE St 18
Mr. WANG Yanhui T L 15
Mr. Zhang Xiaobao REE LA 10

During regular meetings of the Board, the directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the Group,
monitor financial performances and discuss the annual
and interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily
operational matters is delegated to management.
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The Company Secretary records the proceedings of each
board meeting in detail by keeping detailed minutes,
including all decisions by the Board together with
concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Drafts of board minutes are circulated to all directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on request by any director.

All directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times as the Chairman ensures that
management will supply the Board and its committees
with all relevant information in a timely manner. They may
make further enquiries if in their opinion it is necessary or
appropriate to request for further information. They also
have unrestricted access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible to the Board
for providing directors with Board papers and related
materials, and ensuring that all proper Board procedures
are followed and that all applicable laws and regulations
are complied with. If considered to be necessary and
appropriate by the directors, they may retain independent
professional advisors at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a
substantial shareholder or a director, such matter will be
discussed through an actual meeting and will not be dealt
with by written resolutions. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest will be present at
meetings dealing with such conflict issues.

The board committees, including the audit committee
and the remuneration committee, have all adopted the
applicable practices and procedures used in board
meetings for all committee meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Group is Mr. Kuai Wei and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group is Mr. Cao Xuejun.
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
separate and not performed by the same individual to
avoid power being concentrated on any one individual.
The Chairman of the Group is primarily responsible
for the leadership and effective running of the Board,
and ensuring that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive
manner, whereas the Chief Executive Officer is primarily
responsible for the running of the Group’s business and
implementation of the Group’s strategy in achieving the
overall commercial objectives.
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The Chairman also encourages all directors, including
the independent non-executive directors, to actively
participate in all board and committee meetings.

Non-Executive Directors

All independent non-executive directors, Mr. Chan Kin
Cheong, Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Zhang Xiaobao had
not entered into any service contract with any member
of the Company and are not appointed for a fixed term.
They are not entitled to any remuneration, except for
a bonus for each financial year which is at the Board’s
discretion and determined by reference to the Company’s
results and performance for the financial year concerned.

Remuneration of Directors

The remuneration committee was established in 2005.
Since 12 December 2007, Mr. Chan Kin Cheong, an
independent non-executive director, was appointed
Chairman of the Committee. Other members are
Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Zhang Xiaobao, both are
independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The role and function of the remuneration committee
included the determination of the specific remuneration
packages of all executive directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and making recommendations
to the board of the remuneration of non-executive
directors. The remuneration committee should consider
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Upon the recommendation of Remuneration Committee,
the Board of directors has considered and reviewed the
existing terms of employment contracts of the executive
directors and considers that the existing terms of
employment contracts of the executive directors are fair
and reasonable.
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Nomination of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. LIN Zhang are subjected to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the forthcoming general meeting of the
Company.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rules 5.28 and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing
the Company’s annual reports and quarterly financial
reports and providing advice and comments thereon
to the Board. The Audit Committee is also responsible
for reviewing and supervising the Company’s financial
reporting and internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee comprises the three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Kin Cheong,
Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Zhang Xiaobao. Mr. Zhang
Xiaobao was appointed on 16 January 2008.
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The audit committee held 5 meetings during the year ERZECROBFERITANDE - B&E
under review. Details of the attendance of the audit BRI LFELBFBOT -

committee meetings are as follows:

Members Attendance
54= R
Mr. Chan Kin Cheong BRiEE k4 5/5
Mr. Wang Yanhui TR A 5/5
Mr. Zhang Xiaobao REE LA 1/5

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results
and audited annual results during the year ended 31
December 2008 have been reviewed by the audit
committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation
of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure
have been made.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the total fee
paid/payable in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the Company’s external auditors is set out
below:
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2008 2007
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HK$°000 HK$’000
BEFITT Vot

Types of services AR5 iE 4R
Audit services EZIRTE 350 300
Non-audit services IEE X RS 510 610
Total st 860 910

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group.

The responsibilities of the external auditors are set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report to the shareholders of
the Company on pages 34 to 36 of this annual report.

Internal Control

The Company has conducted a review of its system of
internal control periodically to ensure the effectiveness
and adequacy of the internal control system. The
Company convened meeting periodically to discuss
financial, operational and risk management control.
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Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Mr. KUAI Wei (8{&), aged 47, is the Chairman and
managing executive director of the Company. Mr. Kuai
holds a master degree in business administration from
the University of South Australia and has over 20 years
of experience in banking, electrical transmission and
transformation equipment and satellite broadcasting. Mr.
Kuai has been involved as a senior management member
for strategic planning, business development, operation
and overall management of various companies. He joined
the Group in July 2007.

Mr. LIN Zhang (#3&) , aged 27, holds a bachelor degree
in economics from Tianjin University of Commerce.
Prior to joining the Company in November 2007, Mr. Lin
worked in the Indonesia branch of Chinaoil USA (Macao)
Company Limited for two years and was responsible
for the petroleum exploitation, development and related
trading business.

Mr. CAO Xuejun (BZE), aged 63, is also the Chief
Executive Officer who holds a bachelor degree from the
China University of Petroleum (formerly known as “The
Beijing Petroleum Institute”). Mr. Cao has over 40 years’
working experience in oil and gas development projects,
and participated in several big offshore oil and gas field
development projects. Prior to joining the Company in
December 2007, he was the President of the Shanghai
Branch of CNOCC (China) Ltd. Mr. Cao was also a visiting
scholar in Alabama State University, United States of
America and was engaged as a consultant in a subsidiary
of the Company since June 2007.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Yanhui (E##), aged 46, holds a master
degree in Public Administration from Harvard University
and a doctor degree in Management from Xi’an Jiaotong
University. He was a senior Economist and also an
adjunct professor in Xi'an Jiaotong University. Mr. Wang
is now the vice president of Shenzhen Ping An Bank
(formerly known as Shenzhen Commercial Bank). Mr.
Wang was appointed as an independent non-executive
director in December 2007.
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Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong (BR#8), aged 43, has over 7
years working experience in accounting and auditing. Mr.
Chan holds a bachelor degree in Quantitative Analysis
for Business and a master degree of Professional
Accounting and Information Systems from City University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is an associate member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Chan was appointed as an
independent non-executive director in December 2007.

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao (;REEE), aged 51, holds a
geological bachelor degree from Changchun Institute
of Geology, a master degree in sedimentology and a
PhD degree in natural gas geochemistry from Chinese
Academy of Sciences. In 2004, he took a position of
associate chief geologist in the Research Institute of
Petroleum Exploration and Development, Qinghai Oil
Field, Chinese National Petroleum Corporation. During his
30 years research experience, he has been responsible
for over 20 programs and published over 30 papers. Mr.
Zhang was appointed as an independent non-executive
director in January 2008.

Senior Management

Mr. CHENG Yun Sing (¥§85X) , aged 75, was appointed
as the company secretary of the Company in November
2007. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Public Accountants, and has been practising
as a Certified Public Accountant for more than 36 years.

Ms. CHUNG Ming Yin ($8338), aged 35, joined the
Company in December 2007 as the qualified accountant.
Prior to joining the Company, she has over 7 years
working experience in accounting and auditing. Ms.
Chung holds a bachelor degree in Accounting from City
University of Hong Kong. She is an associate member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. LAl Chun Liang (3Rf€R), aged 44, joined Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd. as an Executive
Vice President in 2003 and was appointed as a chief
operating officer in 2008. He holds a bachelor degree
in Electronic Engineering. Prior to joining the group,
he has over 10 years experience in development of
angiocarpy monitoring instrument and research on GPS
and navigation system. He has years of experience in
operation and management of companies.

Mr. CHAN Chong Yam, Steven (FR##k), aged 54,
joined Polyard Petroleum International Co., Ltd. as
financial controller in June 2007. He is a member of
Certified General Accountants Association of Canada
and has over 21 years accounting and financial working
experience.

Mr. QIN Han Sheng (E&4), aged 46, joined Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd. as a Senior Geologist of
the Technical Team since December 2007. Mr. Qin has
over 22 years working experience in exploration for oil
and gas in CNPC of China and was responsible for 18
petroleum exploration projects.

Ms. LIU Ying (2/%), aged 46, joined as a senior
geophysicist of the Technical Team of Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd. since December 2007. Ms. Liu has
previously acted as the Chief for Block D, Oil Exploration
and Development project in Irawaddy Basin, a joint
venture between Myanmar and SINOPEC. She was
awarded for discovery of Yunnan Luliang Nature Gas Field
in 1994 and Quijing Basi Nature Gas Field in 2004.

Mr. ZHOU Jin Tang (A& %), aged 45, joined as a
geoscientist of the Technical Team of Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd. since December 2007. Mr. Zhou
has 23 years petroleum exploring experience and is well
versed in geochemical and geophysical techniques.

Mr. ZHANG Yong Qiang (3&kk3#&), aged 41, joined as
a Reservoir Engineer of the Technical Team of Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd. since December 2007.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Zhang participated
in Reservoir Accurate Description project for Shahejie
Formation of Liuzan Qilfield in Jidong Oilfield in 2004 and
Deep Gas Exploration Potential project of Niuju Oilfield in
2005.
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Report of the Directors

The directors would like to submit their report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2008 (“the year”).

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The Group is principally engaged in the
exploration of oil and natural gas and trading of
petroleum-related products. During the year, the Group
disposed of the trading of pulps and paper products
business. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 39 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
business and geographical segments is set out in note 14
to the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set forth in the
consolidated income statement on page 37.

The directors do not recommend any payment of dividend
for the year.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the

Company during the year are set out in note 32 to the
financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and

equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.
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Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Cayman lIslands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 132.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities

During the year ended 31 December 2008, neither the

Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.
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Share Options

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26
June 2002 for the purpose of providing incentives to
the directors and eligible participants, under which
the Company may grant options to the directors
and employees of the Group and also other eligible
participants to subscribe for shares of the Company.
Certain directors and participants have been granted
options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares at an exercise price of HK$0.002
(Note) per share, details of which are set out as follows:

EFEHE

B

ARAR BT ZF XA NBRAMIAR
Pt & (A TR BT &R Q518 A Bl BB A A et
2 RBREE ) URBEERAERS
HBE  ARAAREBEZFHEALAEEESRR
BENAREMAERSEERNBRE  UR
BARRRN o RIFERXAFHERAEBET
B BETEFER2HEETERBRE EE
BB 0.002 7T (M 3E) 2 ITEEERBRD - B
BRSNS

Number of share options
BRESHE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Lapsed as at
1 January during 31 December
2008 the year 2008
R=BENE  underreview H-BENE
Name of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period Granted -B-H RE® +t-A=1-AH
ERALR RiAH ATESE BRI HRTE EEXX MR
Employees in aggregate 26 June 2002 12 July 2003 — 48,750,000 500,000 500,000 -
11 July 2008
EELE “TT-FRACHAR ZTE=FtA+ZRE

“EE\FtAT-A

Note:Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
7 October 2003, each of the initial issued and unissued
Shares having a par value of HK$0.01 were subdivided
into five Subdivided Shares having a par value of
HK$0.002 each with effect from 8 October 2003. This
share subdivision gave rise to adjustments to both the
exercise price and the number of underlying shares
granted under the pre-IPO share option scheme, and
accordingly every option originally granted was increased
to five options.

No option under the share option scheme adopted by the
Company was granted during the year.

Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were set out
in the Prospectus issued by the Company on 5 July 2002.
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. KUAI Wei (Chairman)
Mr. LIN Zhang
Mr. CAO Xuejun

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong
Mr. WANG Yanhui
Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao

By virtue of article 108(A) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Kuai Wei who was appointed by the
Board of Directors as an executive director and being
elected as the Chairman of the Board is not required to
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By virtue of article 108(B) of the Company’s articles of
association, the office of directorship of Mr. Lin Zhang
will end at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. Mr. Lin Zhang, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election at the meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. Kuai Wei signed a service agreement with the
Company on 16 January 2009 for a term of one year
which may be terminated by either party thereto giving
to the other not less than three calendar months’ prior
notice in writing. By virtue of 108 of the Company’s article
of association, Mr. Kuai who is elected as the Chairman
of the Board is not required to retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
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Mr. Lin Zhang is appointed by the Company for a term
of one year commencing from 1 November 2008 which
may be terminated by either party thereto giving to the
other not less than three calendar months’ prior notice
in writing. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

Mr. Cao Xuejun entered into a service agreement with
the Company on 1 June 2008 for a term of one year
which may be terminated by either party thereto giving to
the other party a prior notice in writing of not less than
three calendar months or paying to the other party three
months’ salary.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the directors who
are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

Biographical details of directors and senior
management

Biographical details of directors of the Company and

senior management of the Group are set out on pages 20
to 22 of this annual report.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and/or
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company or any Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2008, there were no interests and
short positions of Directors and chief executives in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)),
which were required to be notified to the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of Part
XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules
5.46 and 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
securities transactions by Directors.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and/or Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares of the
Company

The register of substantial shareholders required to be
kept under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that
as at 31 December 2008, the Company had been notified
of the following substantial shareholders’ interests and
short positions, being 5% or more of the Company’s
issued share capital. These interests are in addition to
those disclosed above in respect of the directors and
chief executives.

EFERE
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NE) ZERZH YR EEEESERES
TBABZ = —HE 7 -

Approximate

Number of percentage
Name of person shares held Capacity of interest
AT HE FrERGE A g4 BHESZE ST
(Note 1)
(K17t 1)
Lam Nam 1,333,000,000 (L) Interest of a controlled corporation 24.65%
PUNET] (Note 2) ik NGl
(Ki5#2)
642,679,607 (L) Beneficial owner 11.88%
(Note 3) En#EEA
(Htat3)
2,250,000,000 (L) Interest of a controlled corporation 41.61%
(Note 3 and 4) 32| UNCI -
(K73 % 4)
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EFEHE

Approximate

Number of percentage
Name of person shares held Capacity of interest
A& FrEROE A 14 BAERBES L
(Note 1)
(K15t 1)
Silver Star Enterprises 1,333,000,000 (L) Beneficial owner 24.65%
Holdings Inc. EnfBA
(Note 2) (Ftit2)
China International Mining 2,250,000,000 (L) Beneficial owner 41.61%
Holding Company (Note 4) EmEEa A
Limited (Note 3) (Htet4)
PEBEREZEZERER AR
(Htet3)
Inwood Support Limited 500,700,000 (L) Beneficial owner 9.26%
(Note 5) (B1a#5) (Note 6) BEmlEA A
(Kt e)
Li Sui Qing (Note ) 500,700,000 (L) Interest of a controlled corporation 9.26%

FEW (Kits) Rz UNCIPR: o

Notes: Bzt -
[LIFEHEZA TR SRR () 2 #Ea

1. The letter “I” represents the person’s interests in shares or 1.
underlying shares.

Silver Star Enterprises Holdings Inc. 2 23 &,
BATRANEAMEEEERESR o

PEBEREEZERARAB 222 HITRA
ML BEEA

2. The entire issued share capital of Silver Star Enterprises 2.
Holdings Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr. Lam Nam.

3. The entire issued share capital of China International 3.
Mining Holding Company Limited is beneficially owned by
Mr. Lam Nam.

ZEBRMPITEARR B BT Z IR EFM
Z R A TR R E#AT -

4, These shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise of 4.
the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds
issued by the Company.
5. Inwood Support Limited is wholly owned by Li Sui Qing. 5. Inwood Support Limited AZEHEEHEE °
#ZE W 1n 5 B 2 17 £ B Inwood Support
Limited #7482 BIIEZM 2 RIS G T
Brgg R BEIT 2R o

6. These shares represent the shares to be allotted and 6.
issued upon exercise in full of the subscription rights
attaching to the warrants held by Inwood Support Limited.

BREXHBEEEIN R_ZFETNF+_A
=+—B REFEMM  HEEAHMALNK
RARAR B 2 B K/ AR B 15
RABIDBEITRAE% KA EZ EmSIXR

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, the
directors are not aware of any other person or corporation
having an interest or short position in the shares and/or
underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or
more of the Company'’s issued share capital.
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Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, 100% of the Group’s total purchases of
materials were attributable to the one and only supplier.

During the year, approximately 100% and 94% of the
Group’s total sales were attributable to the five largest
customers and the largest customer respectively.

None of the directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge
of the directors owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company) had any interests in the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.
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Connected Transactions

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 35
to the financial statements also constituted connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules, required to
be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The following transactions between certain
connected parties (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
and the Company have been entered into and/or are
ongoing for which relevant announcements, if necessary,
have been made by the Company in accordance with the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

(1) Very Substantial and Connected Transactions

On 6 February 2008, the Group has entered into
various agreements in respect of a proposed
corporate restructuring that constituted connected
transactions and was subsequently approved by
shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary
General Meeting duly convened on 14 April 2008 as
under:

1. The Group acquired the rest of the 50% of the
entire capital of Polyard Petroleum International
Company Limited (“Polyard Macau”) from Mr.
Lam Nam, a substantial shareholder of the
Company. The consideration would be satisfied
by the Company to procure Chinaoil USA
(Macao) Company Limited (“Chinaoil Macao”),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, to unconditionally and irrevocably
transfer to Mr. Lam 21% of the participating
interest in the production sharing agreement
relating to the Oil Project in Brunei (the “Oil
Project”).

2. The Group acquired the rest of the 30% of the
entire capital of Chinaoil Macao from Chinaoil
USA Inc. The consideration would be satisfied
by the Company to procure Chinaoil Macao
to unconditionally and irrevocably transfer to
Chinaoil USA Inc. 18% of the participating
interest in the Oil Project.
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(2)

Upon the completion of the above-mentioned
transactions on 14 April 2008, Polyard Macau and
Chinaoil Macao are now wholly-owned indirect
subsidiaries of the Company.

Major and Connected Transaction

A Sale and Purchase Agreement was entered into
by the Company on 11 July 2008 and then varied by
the Supplemental Agreement dated 26 September
2008 for the acquisition of the shareholder loans and
the entire issued share capital of Mexford Holdings
Limited from the Vendor which is 100% beneficially
owned by Mr. Lam Nam, who is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. The acquisition was
completed on 12 December 2008 and constituted
a connected transaction. An associate of Mexford
Holdings Limited has obtained a right to examine,
investigate and/or explore the Coal Contract Area
located in the Philippines.

The consideration for the above-mentioned
acquisition is HK$120 million which will be satisfied
by the Company issuing interest-free convertible
bonds with a conversion price of HK$0.048 per
share of the Company.

Discloseable Transaction

A Disposal Agreement was entered into by the Company
on 15 July 2008 for the disposal of the entire issued
share capital of Yunnan Kanstar High Tech Products
Development Company Limited (“Kanstar Yunnan”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to an
independent purchaser at a consideration of HK$200,000.
Kanstar Yunnan is principally engaged in the trading of
pulps and paper products business.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed
that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the
Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this report.

Competing Business

None of the directors, the management shareholders or
substantial shareholders of the Company (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
which competes or may compete with the business of the
Group.

Auditors

The financial statements for the year have been audited
by NCN CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment; while the accounts for the
year ended 31 December 2007 were audited by Messrs.
Patrick Ng & Company.

On behalf of the Board
Kuai Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2008
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Independent Auditors’ Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYARD PETROLEUM INTERNATIONAL
GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited set out
on pages 37 to 131, which comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2008,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and the true and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit and to report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend
on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2008
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

NCN CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre,
161-167 Des Voeux Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong,

Hong Kong S.A.R., China

18 March 2009

Choi Man Chau Michael
Practising Certificate Number: P0O1188
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

Consolidated Income Statement FelaE
For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE—FEL)\F+—A=1+—HILFEF
2008 2007
—EBN\FE ZETAF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt BETFT BT T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREER
Turnover L 5(a) 21,640 —
Cost of sales SHE KA (21,378) —
Gross profit EA 262 —
Other revenue and net income H b lias BoF WA 5(b) 1,124 1,862
Selling and distribution expenses — $5% K&/ 5 - (4)
Administrative and other THEEMEERY
operating expenses (24,409) (6,822)
Operating loss K EE (28,023) (4,964)
Finance costs B E A 7 (15,878) (4,774)
Gain arising on business EBEHEE 2 W
combination — 487,534
Share of results of associates and fE{RH{# < A &) & [F
jointly controlled entities EHEEER - (2,201)
Impairment losses on goodwiill Pﬁéﬁiz,ﬁzfﬁﬁiﬁa 21 (38,210) —
Impairment losses on interests in 7 $% [B] 42 I & £ 4
jointly controlled entities R EEE 19 (243,204) —
Profit/(loss) before tax BREBLADRF, (&) 8 (320,315) 475,595
Income tax FT{gHi 9 1,222 281
Profit/(loss) for the year from REBFEILEER
continuing operations 2w Hl/ (E18) (319,093) 475,876
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRI ET
Profit/(loss) for the year from REFERIELEFET
discontinued operations ZmF,/ (EE) 6 401 (2,761)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERH, (EE) (318,692) 473,115
Attributable to: FE1E -
Equity holders of the Company AT REREA A (316,756) 473,961
Minority interests DERR R (1,936) (846)
(318,692) 473115
Earnings/(loss) per share SREF (FH#E) 12
Basic (in HK cents) %ZIK(/ )
— from continuing and SFEREKIE
discontinued operations i‘“*%?}& (5.86 cents fili) 9.56 cents 1l
— from continuing operations — BEREET (5.86 cents Alli) 9.61 cents 1lli
Diluted (in HK cents) ﬁﬁfﬁ@%ﬂﬂ)
— from continuing and ii““&E”ﬂ:
discontinued operations BT N/A FEH 9.55 cents 1l
— from continuing operations T—irij-‘é'i“‘ i N/A FEHA 9.61 cents 1l
Dividend e 13 - -
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEAHBEEREBEER AT

Consolidated Balance Sheet reEEARE
As at 31 December 2008 R-ZFEFENFf—A=1+—H
2008 2007
—EENF —ETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bz JBMF T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ BB M 15 1,003 202
Interests in associates AL RNl 18 81,915 —
Interests in jointly controlled REEIEHIE R
entities 19 856,118 3,143,824
939,036 3,144,026
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Amounts due from associates JiE Y Bt 2 X B e [
and jointly controlled entities Pl BE FNIE 23 6,072 —
Trade and other receivables FEERS &EP@
FE W SR IE 24 1,075 9,448
Cash and bank deposits B MIBITER 25 6,600 71,100
13,747 80,548
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 26 — (133)
Trade and other payables JETERE KZFET@
FET IR 27 (47,183) (100,147)
Amounts due to directors JEEE A 28 (2) —
(47,185) (100,280)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEFE (33,438) (19,732)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBERSE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 905,598 3,124,294
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Convertible bonds AR ES 29 (315,378) (258,211)
Deferred tax liabilities ELFIBE & 30 (11,007) (3,479)
(326,385) (256,690)
NET ASSETS BEE 579,213 2,867,604
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARK G
Share capital &7 31 10,816 10,816
Reserves & 32 567,806 840,116
Equity attributable to equity RATIRERB A
holders of the Company B bR 578,622 850,932
Minority interests DHRR R 591 2,016,672
TOTAL EQUITY 1B REZS 579,213 2,867,604
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of KEEeN_ZETZNF=A T \BZERERE
directors on 18 March 2009. FIED o
KUAI Wei LIN Zhang 12 7Y 97
Director Director EF EE
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

Balance Sheet BEARE
As at 31 December 2008 R-EFENF+—_A=+—H
2008 2007
—EENE TEELF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ok B TT JBT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R N 15 159 44
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIZE 17 24,895 24,895
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NGIE R 22 738,677 638,844
763,731 663,783
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade and other receivables FEULBR 7k K Bt
FE W FRIE 24 886 767
Cash and bank deposits e RIRTTHER 25 10 53
896 820
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 26 — (133)
Trade and other payables BRI M E A
FET IR 27 (13,700) (4,296)
(13,700) (4,429)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FE A EEE (12,804) (3,609)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 750,927 660,174
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EFRBER
Convertible bonds AR ES 29 (315,378) (253,211)
Deferred tax liabilities FELEFIBEE 30 (11,007) (3,479)
(326,385) (256,690)
NET ASSETS BEE 424,542 403,484
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRAR R & E
Share capital f& A 31 10,816 10,816
Reserves s 32 413,726 392,668
TOTAL EQUITY EER 424,542 403,484

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 18 March 2009.

KUAI Wei
Director
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited EHEAMBEEREBEER LT

Consolidated Statement of FeEagnx
Changes in Equity HE—FE\F+=A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FAAREREAEL
Retained
Convertible profits/
Share Special Revaluation Exchange Warrant bonds  (Accumulated Minority Total
Share capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Total interests Equity
REE/
B BivaE KHRE Eff EifE  IREIRE UEREREE (BitEE) gt SEBREE L3

HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 3000 HKS000 S 000 HS000 HIS000 HKS 000 HKS 000
BT AR7T ABTT BT ETE AB7T A8TE BT ETT ABTE BTE

At January 2007 N-33tE-R-A 9,600 259,170 985 14508 1Y - - (31,674) 253,231 - 253,231
Issue of ordnary shares on exercise (PR

of share optons MALAR 150 = = = = - - - 150 - 150
Issue of wamants BrakER = = = = - 443 - - 4428 - 4428
Issue of orinary shares on WENBLAEs

aoquistion of nfeests n fgfERR

subsidiary 1,066 100,204 - - - - - - 101,270 - 101,210
Issue of convertble bonds on WERBATER

acqisttion of nerests in fRTARES

Subsicary = = = - - - 21,491 - 21,491 - 21,491
Deforred tax labiityon ssue o~ B7HERER2

convertble bonds EiEaE = = = = = = (3761) - (3,76) - 3761
Release of exchange reseneon EHBATEAR

dlsposalof subsiiery Bk - - - - (144 = = = (144 = (144
Minorty intersts arising on WEHEATES

acquiston of ntrests in B2 8RS

subsiciary - - - - - - - - - 2,017,518 2,017,518
Transfer of surplus on evaluation of ~ HE B8

buidings on disposal #EE4 = = = (14,508) - - - 14,508 - - -
Exchange diference arising on BEHI SRR

ransation of foregn operations ~~ EXEE - - - - 3 - - - 3 = kil
Proftoss) for the year REREH/(5E) - - - = = = - 413%6 4136t 649 473115
At 31 December 2007 S g g

=t-A 10816 359,974 985 - 209 440 17730 456,79 850,932 2,016,672 2,867,604

At 1 January 2008 ®=%2/\5-A-A 10816 359974 985 - 209 4403 17730 456,79 850,932 2,016,672 2,867,604
Issue of convertble bonds WENBLREs

on aoquistion of nerests in gfTRRER

subsidiary - - - - - - 53,420 - 53420 - 53,420
Defored tax iabiityon ssue o~ B7W#RER2

convertble bonds ELHERRE - - = = = = (8814) = (3814 = (8814
Deferred tax efect on change intax -~ 2287 ELAKTE

ates = = = - - - 34 - 3 - 34
Echange difrences arsngon~ EBSIEERE Y

translaton of foregn operations B £ = = = = [ - - - 75 " 8
Minorty nerests arising on WEHEATEREE .

aoquistion of nfeests n SEkRER

subsidiary = = - - - - - - - 5 5
Release of ecchange resene on ~ HENERZHER

dlsposal of subsidary E3kE - = = = (269 - - - (269) - (269

Minorty nterests eliminated on FROZEANE
aoquistion of addifonal erests K2 AKEAA
innon-uholly owned subsidaries S EREHE

under corporate restructuring DERRER - - - - - - - - - (2,014,704 (2,014,704
Loss forte year KEREE - = = - = = = (316,750 (316,756 (19%) (318622
At 31 December 2008 i)t

tzh=1-A 10816 359974 985 - 15 4403 62,370 140,039 578,622 591 579213
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHAHEEREBER AR

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement FSREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE_FTE/\FT _H=1+—HIFE
2008 2007
—E2EN\F “EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T JEWFoT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATREF (E58) (319,914) 472,834
Adjustments for: EE %E
Interest income | S A (820) (548)
Interest expenses FE S H 15,878 4,983
Gain arising on business ¥BAMtEA 2 W
combination = (487,534)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HE—FRBARZ (MK
subsidiary m),/ B8 (415) 3,283
Depreciation e 262 1,121
Impairment losses on trade IRk 2 B & 18
receivables 14 =
Impairment losses on goodwill B2 REBE 38,210 —
Impairment losses on interests RERZESIEEER 2
in jointly controlled entities BEEE 243,204 —
Amortization for prepaid lease Bt + 2078 4 1 5
payment = 37
Share of loss of associates and F‘Eﬁfﬁﬂu?*éﬁjﬁ £ [A
jointly controlled entities TH|E RS E 1R — 2,201
Operating loss before EEEREHHIZ
movements in working capital i B E (23,581) (3,623)
Decrease in inventories &R = 3,130
(Increase)/decrease in other ,Jﬁzﬁ?ﬂ&l XIE - FAR
debtors, prepayments and = Iﬁ&?*/i\(ibﬂ)/
deposits VEn 8,336 (3,963)
Increase in amount due from F'&EJ%Z?EH? HIE e H
jointly controlled entity/ &N A FRIEE BN
associates (1,527) =
Decrease in trade and other JE A5t BR SR % B A FE AT
payables AIE/DK 2o (34,726) (27,312)
Cash used in operating KSR S
activities (51,498) (31,768)
Tax paid ERHIE (30) —
NET CASH USED IN REXBAFERESFHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (51,528) (31,768)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREED
Interest received from bank BUERTTIERFI B
deposits 820 548
Investment in jointly controlled RERITEHIEEZIRE
entities (4,537) —
Purchase of property, plant and ﬁ%g%% = K
equipment ] (1,088) (984)
Proceeds from disposal of Hj’ﬁi%% ﬁ}%&uﬂ%
property, plant and equipment Zﬁﬁ?—%i}’( 25 =
Acquisition of subsidiary BB A = 73,070
Disposal of subsidiary HERB A ﬂ 155 22,545
NET CASH (USED IN)/ REES (FTiE) Fis
GENERATED FROM RE&REE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (4,625) 95,179
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEAHBEEREBEER AT

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007
—ZEE)N\E —EELF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
iz BT T BT T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEH
Proceeds from new bank and IR IT R EMEE
other borrowings P15 708 — 3,958
Proceeds from issue of ordinary ?"ﬁ BR TS
shares FRIA = 1580
Proceeds from issue of BT HERE
warrants Z T8 8 — 4,423
Interests paid Eﬁﬂ (8,291) (3,372)
Advance (to)/from directors BT REESERF 2 (360)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM R & EE s
FINANCING ACTIVITIES  mam® B289) 4799
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BERBREEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS HnEEE (64,442) 68,210
CASH AND CASH FHIzHRER
EQUIVALENTS AT HeZEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 70,967 3,809
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEE e SR B 2 SO
changes 75 (1,052)
CASH AND CASH FRZEAER
EQUIVALENTS AT END OF REeEEY
THE YEAR 6,600 70,967
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES HB&RELZEY
OF CASH AND CASH 2RO
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank deposits IR & MIRITIFERK 25 6,600 71,100
Bank overdraft RITEL = (133)
6,600 70,967

42
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

A 55 80 RO o

BE—FTEFN\Fr-_A=1T—HIFE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

General Information

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted Company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the Corporate Information section of the annual
report.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, the functional currency of the Company.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are exploration of oil
and natural gas and trading of petroleum-related
products. The Group had also been engaged in
the development, manufacture and sale of pulp
and paper products, which was discontinued in the
current year (see note 6).

Application of New and Revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amendments and interpretations
(“new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which
are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of Financial Assets
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury
Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC) — Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and their
Interaction

Annual Report £ 2008
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEAHBEEREBEER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2008

44

Application of New and Revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

The application of the new HKFRSs has no material
effect on how the results and financial position for
the current or prior accounting periods have been
prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior
period adjustment has been required.

The Group has not early applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs'

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements®

Borrowing Costs’

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements®

Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on
Liquidation?

Eligible hedged items®

Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate’

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations’

Business Combinations®

HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)
HKFRS 1 (Revised)
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments®

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes*

HK(IFRIC) — Int 15 Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate’

HK(IFRIC) — Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation®

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets
to Owners®

HK(IFRIC) — Int 18 Transfers of Assets from
Customers®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009 except for the amendments to HKFRS
5, effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2008

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
October 2008

Effective for transfer of assets from customers
received on or after 1 July 2009

ﬂﬁﬁimﬁ

gﬁ:f%%/’ L/b+ 7L*
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

A 55 80 RO o

BE—FTEFN\Fr-_A=1T—HIFE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

Application of New and Revised Hong Kong 2. ERAHITIRKETEBHERSEER
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (TEBMBHREERD ] (&)

(Continued)

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect JERBEBMBMELERNE IR (KEE])A
the accounting for business combination for which EREWNEBRARA_TTNF LA —HK
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of VA& %A 2 8 — (B E S HE vk A
the first annual reporting period beginning on or B2EBEHGSTRE - BALTLEAE
after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect 27T R(EIBRT ) B E R RRIREB A A
the accounting treatment for changes in a parent’s FIEEERE SRR - ARFES
ownership interest in a subsidiary. The directors of TEHY - EAEMER REFTER ~ (EF]
the Company anticipate that the application of the A ZEF T HAEE 2 8 MBIR
other new and revised standards, amendments or NERERTE -

interpretations will have no material impact on the

results and the financial position of the Group.

Significant Accounting Policies 3. FEEHEXE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
In addition, these financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
these financial statements is the historical cost basis
except for certain property, plant and equipment,
interests in associates and jointly controlled entities
and financial instruments, which are measured at
revalued amounts or fair values.

A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEAHBEEREBEER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3.

46

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(a)

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (entities
controlled by the Company). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income
and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of
consolidated subsidiaries are identified
separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date
of the original business combination and the
minority’s share of changes in equity since the
date of the combination. Losses applicable to
the minority in excess of the minority’s interest
in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against
the interests of the Group except to the extent
that the minority has a binding obligation and is
able to make an additional investment to cover
the losses.

T—HIEFE

3. EEEIFEERE)

(a)

RERBEEE

RAEMBRREBEANNE R EME
RE(ARREHZER) 2T T
R-ARBAREERXEB UK
REEBRRUEMIBRERBE -
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RAFEBASEL ZMBRRE
FEURBEMBERESABELEL
M EMIE(ER ) JARE R
A o

WEFRE WBLRARZHME®RRD
EEERAE  USHESFHERER

SEEMKE RRRA 25 BER
7)55(0

MESREARS &1 - WA MK
SRR E R B RS o

PEBRRESEE2EANB AT
FEEREREANERAEE ZERED
M2 - PBRREDEIGFEE
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements MEHRFME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 B2 —TLF/)\F+

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(b)

Business Combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted
for using the purchase method. The cost of
the acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus
any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet
the conditions for recognition under HKFRS 3
Business Combinations are recognised at their
fair values at the acquisition date, except for
non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are
classified as held for sale in accordance with
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations, which are recognised
and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised
as an asset and initially measured at cost,
being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the
cost of the business combination, the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the
acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s
proportion of the net fair value of the assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(c)

48

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of the relevant subsidiary at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill arising on an acquisition
of an associate or a jointly controlled entity
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s share of the relevant
associate’s or jointly controlled entity’s net
assets at the date of acquisition.

Capitalised goodwill is presented separately in
the consolidated balance sheet and is carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement.
An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Goodwill (Continued)

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an
associate or a jointly controlled entity, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the
Company. Control exists when the Company
has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights
that presently are exercisable are taken into
account.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, unless it is classified as
held for sale.

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities

An associate is an entity over which the
investor has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Joint venture arrangements that
involve the establishment of a separate entity or
a separate financial structure in which venturers
have joint control over the economic activity of
the entity or the financial structure are referred
to as jointly controlled entities.
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3.

50

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(e)

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the
equity method and is initially recorded at cost
and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the associate’s
or the jointly controlled entity’s net assets,
unless it is classified as held for sale. The
consolidated income statement includes the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax
results of the associates and jointly controlled
entities for the year, including any impairment
loss on goodwill relating to the investment
in associates and jointly controlled entities
recognised for the year.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the jointly controlled
entity, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate or
the jointly controlled entity. For this purpose,
the Group’s interest in the associate or the
jointly controlled entity is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the jointly
controlled entity.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and jointly controlled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associate or jointly controlled
entity, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(e)

()

(9)

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities (Continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments
in associates and jointly controlled entities are
stated at cost less impairment losses, unless it
is classified as held for sale.

Non-current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only
when the sale is highly probable and the asset
(or disposal group) is available for immediate
sale in its present condition.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of the assets’ (disposal groups’) previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and
represents amounts receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related
taxes.

(i)  Income from sale of goods are recognised
when goods are delivered and title has
passed.

(i) Service income is recognised when
services are provided.

(iii) Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements ﬂﬁ%iﬁiﬂﬁ‘f

For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE—FE)\F+ - A=1+—HIEFEF
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3. BT EE(E)
(g) Revenue Recognition (Continued) (@) WEBR(E)
(iv) Dividend income from investments is (iv) RBEEEZKREWARTELR
recognised when the shareholders’ rights RUERFRIE 2 BEFIRFRERR ©

52

(h)

to receive payment have been established.

Property, Plant and Equipment (hy % BERRE
Property, plant and equipment are stated at Y% - BERE fﬁ)ﬂﬁﬁ$1€ﬁﬁ
cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation BB E MOREE BT R

and impairment losses.

Buildings held for use in the production HEARAREESRES YR
or supply of goods or services, or for % RERTHAE CEFHIRE
administrative purposes, are stated in the EEHmeBERReEEREBERA
consolidated balance sheet at their revalued B EHeBENEGRERZAFEE
amounts, being the fair value at the date of WA ERBER RETITE REMRBER
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated RETREEE - iﬁﬁ%“iﬁﬂt
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated T UFRABETZHREEH
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed N EEETEREAEZR -

with sufficient regularity such that the carrying
amount does not differ materially from that
which would be determined using fair values at
the balance sheet date.

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation BEEFhEECEMNEGREES
of buildings is credited to the revaluation BAEGREERN  RIEELBEEF—
reserve, except to the extent that it reverses EERNBAERAEST L ZEMB
a revaluation decrease of the same asset B EHBEAT  HEEERABE
previously recognised as an expense, in P 2 BB RBREALGE W %:z
which case the increase is credited to the EEERELEZEEFERD -
consolidated income statement to the extent of ttﬂ?@EiﬁFhEE%EEQZEE
the decrease previously charged. A decrease REcEF(E)  AlREBHE
in net carrying amount arising on revaluation Pz - HREBEHBEEREZHE
of an asset is dealt with as an expense to the HEREE  BHEEBEEGRBRE AR
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on B Al o

the revaluation reserve relating to a previous
revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the
attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to
retained profits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(h)

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment, after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives commencing on the date of completion
of construction for the intended use, at the
following rates:

Property
— buildings situated  Over the shorter of the
on leasehold remaining period of

lease term or 30 years
3'/,% to 20% per annum
20% per annum

Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles

Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their expected useful lives
on the same basis as owned assets or, where
shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item) is included in the consolidated
income statement in the year in which the item
is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008

3.

54

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(i)

Intangible Assets (Other than Goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognized
as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Expenditure on development activities
is capitalised if the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the
intention to complete development. The
expenditure capitalised includes the costs of
materials, direct labour, and an appropriate
proportion of overheads and borrowing costs,
where applicable. Capitalised development
costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Other development expenditure is
recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group with finite useful lives are stated in
the balance sheet at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite
useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. Period and method of amortisation
are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their
useful lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any
conclusion that the useful life of an intangible
asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to
determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life
assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively
from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible
assets with finite lives as set out above.

ﬂﬁﬁiﬁ?

#

H

3.

ev

(i)

NEFZASt—AULEE
BB (A
B EE (FREEN)

MR TRELHEERR
B3 o firl 2 an S AR Fr A BT e P 36
EFHARTE - MAEEITRE TS
BREBEATHRER  ARAERA
HeERUENCEE - BAEH
XBEMHRAE  BEERTERRE
B P2 R E R REEKA (HE
) e ERERBER AR AR E R
A8 5H R REHRE R BRI
HiFAERX R ELYBERS
FisC °

ARERBARERERFHIHE
EFEEREERBERERAR
ERFEE NI R RERERT
R REELAZEERmERAXR
ELMEEA R

BREERERFH BT EERH
REEMGMAAERFHUNERZER
BENE - BF AR EHR LE
BEITE e

AERFHFES T REZELE
ENTHE SFRIGHELE
EZAERFRA/NEE 2 EMHE
mABEEHRIBEAEEHESS
B EZNEE R LA B -
i 7 4 A8 S 15 - BRI R R F AR A
HAETERETAELLZARY
RELAEEREFHCENEES
R BTE 1 RCAR ©

Annual Report £ 2008




Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2008

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

e

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(i)

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are
recognized as assets of the Group at their
fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability
to the lessor is included in the balance sheet
as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments
are apportioned between finance charges
and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are charged directly to profit or loss,
unless they are directly attributable to qualifying
assets, in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s general policy on
borrowing costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

Interest in leasehold land is amortised over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements M#&EERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE—FE)\F+ - A=1+—HIEFEF
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3. FESHBEE)
(k) Foreign Currencies (k) Hhi

The individual financial statements of each EEEER ZER M BHREKI AZ
group entity are presented in the currency of EREEMETELERIECEK
the primary economic environment in which (Eie B )5IME - siir & R
the entity operates (its functional currency). RME  SEBCEERPBMRR
For the purpose of the consolidated financial HIAARRZNEE ¥ RERE M5
statements, the results and financial position R 2V EEBETIE -

of each entity are expressed in Hong Kong
dollars, the functional currency of the
Company and the presentation currency for the
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the mEERER T EWMRE - A%
individual entities, transactions in currencies BRI EE ZIINEE(INE ) ETT
other than the entity’s functional currency ZRGTIAR S B ZBITERE
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates 8o MEBEER - WINETIEZE
of exchange prevailing on the dates of the MIEENAEE A 2 RITEREHNR
transactions. At each balance sheet date, o PINEEZE AR AFEINEZ
monetary items denominated in foreign FERIHENEELAFEERZH
currencies are retranslated at the rates TERBHIVE o LAINERE £ K AR
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non- STEZEEWIEE P TENKRE -

monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(k)

Foreign Currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation
of monetary items, are included in profit
or loss for the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a
monetary item forms part of the Company’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in
which case, such exchange differences are
recognised in equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised directly in equity, in which cases,
the exchange differences are also recognised
directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are expressed
in Hong Kong dollars using exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income
and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuated significantly during
that period, in which case, the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are included in the exchange reserve as a
separate component of equity. Such exchange
differences are recognized in profit or loss in
the period in which the foreign operation is
disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate prevailing on the
balance sheet date. Exchange differences
arising are included in the exchange reserve.
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3.

58

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

U]

(m)

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets, until the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Employee Benefits

(i) Short Term Employee Benefits and
Contributions to Defined Contribution
Retirement Plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BRAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(m) Employee Benefits (Continued)

(ii)

Share-based Payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in
a share-based payment reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options
will vest.

During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to
vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior
years is included in profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based payment
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payment reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the share-based payment reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is
transferred to the share premium account)
or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).
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3.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(m) Employee Benefits (Continued)

(n)

(iii) Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when,
and only when, the Group demonstrably
commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit as reported in the income statement
because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted
for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BERAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(n)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or
loss, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Annual Report £ 2008

BE—FTEFN\Fr-_A=1T—HIFE

3. EEETEEGE)

(n)

BR(E)

FRHEIRENTERRTEN
SRR 2R (XH A HERIN)
P EREBEERAEMSIHK
EREZR - ATeRRELCHESR
ENAIE -

BRAETRIA B8 TR B A =) R B
ERAZRENRRAECFEER
PTEE A FE AR TR 5 2 B8 T AR
HEAREE A REERERZ
] M B R Al BB AT RS 2R
TEREIZ TR -

ELXEBREECEMERSESE
BiEfmes XN THAEA RME
b A IR E 2 B BB B EEE
B (E R » IR E TR IR T IR TR HI N (E
EREHEREENHERAMR
FEE BT HIE KRB E 2 B R 5

St

E_o

EEFRIBINR N KT ARR - HE
EEDRE B Z RN St AR
ZIBBHER  EERBINE R
R I RIBR M o

61




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEAHBEEREBEER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements MEHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE _FENFT _HA=1—HIFE
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3. FESHBEE)
(0) Impairment of Tangible and Intangible (o) BBUNINZBEXEREFEERE

Assets Other than Goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews RNEBEGER  AEBRTEAR
the carrying amounts of its tangible and REFEECEREE UBEZSE
intangible assets to determine whether there is BEAGAMNPRERLRRERE
any indication that those assets have suffered B MAEMZIRTFAE  BIGETE
an impairment loss. If any such indication EZAINEI SR - LAREEREEE
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset (B ) ZIRE o W &L MG 5T R
is estimated in order to determine the extent BEZIKE S5 AIASEGE
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not BEMBReEABEM 2AKE S
possible to estimate the recoverable amount #H o
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of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value AR E BT R FERBEEKRAR
less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing FHEAEZRSS - R HERE
value in use, the estimated future cash flows B HErEERSRENERN
are discounted to their present value using AIRGIR AL E HIR(E - BRIR K]
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current RMEEBE 2 EEKRKHEEEKR
market assessments of the time value of money RIS B 2 TSR ©

and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash- MEE(KIREGEEEN) 2 A UkE
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its SRMEFTIREREE - BIEE(K
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the MEEEBMN) 2 REBERIRZHA
asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to WE &% - RIFFEBEETREHR
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is ERZEGHSEYER - RtER
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless T - BEBEREZELNIEE®R
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued BRE BRREEBBRINRNER
amount under other standard, in which case AR ©

the impairment loss is treated as revaluation
decrease under that standard.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BERAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible
Assets Other than Goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but
so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount under other standard, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase under that
standard.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
financial report prepared in compliance with
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting are not
reversed at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised
had the impairment been assessed only at the
end of that financial year.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises
direct materials and, where applicable, direct
labour costs and those overheads that have
pbeen incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Cost is
calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business
less all estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEAHBEEREBEER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements MEHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE—FLE)\F+—A=1+—HIEFEF
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3. FESHBEE)
(9) Financial Instruments ( HM®¥IA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are EALEERHEIVEBTIAZAYD
recognised in the consolidated balance B MBEERVBRERGEEE
sheet when the Group becomes a party to EBERERAR MBEELY
the contractual provisions of the instrument. BRBEVLUNATETE - 755K
Financial assets and financial liabilities are R WK BT BEERMG
initially measured at fair value. Transaction BEUURAFEFABSZHBEE
costs that are directly attributable to the MU BEBERINEEEEZR K
acquisition or issue of financial assets and AERFBRAMAZNBR BT FE
financial liabilities (other than financial assets EXMBAGEZATE  WHENLA
and financial liabilities at fair value through FEFABEZHBEEXMEE
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from BEEESX 2R HKANE#ERA
the fair value of the financial assets or financial B o
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liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(i) Loans and Receivables () EBEXRENE

At each balance sheet date subsequent to RYLHERE L SHEER B
initial recognition, loans and receivables K% FE W SR IB B A B R A 2K
are measured at amortised cost, using REHEK AR EEMEE R
the effective interest method, less any BEBETE  EERKEY
identified impairment losses except where HERRE BTHEFEE
the loans and receivables are interest- Bl EE R EL T
free made to related parties without BERZERERIN e ERZFIBMR
any fixed repayment terms or the effect T BRI FEWGRIA PAB 2SR
of discounting would be immaterial. In EREME#RR 2R EEIE
such cases, the loans and receivables Bk e

are stated at cost less any identified
impairment losses.

(ii) Investments (i) BE
Investments are recognised and Wi EEBEREBENEREAER
derecognised on a trade date basis where BETSHRTE 2 RIARZY
the purchase or sale of an investment is AR E RN R 5 AR &K EUE
under a contract whose terms require R o

delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market
concerned.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BERAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

() Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Investments (Continued)

Investments which are non-derivatives
with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities that the Group’s
management has the positive intention
and ability to hold to maturity are
classified as held-to-maturity investments
and are measured at subsequent
reporting dates at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.

Investments, which are derivatives or held
for trading, are classified as investments
at fair value through profit and loss and
are measured at subsequent reporting
dates at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Investments which are non-derivatives
and classified neither as held-to-maturity
investments nor investments at fair value
through profit and loss are classified
as available-for-sale investments and
are measured at subsequent reporting
dates at fair value. Changes in fair
value are recognised directly in equity,
until the investment is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, at which time,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from
equity and recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses are recognised in
profit or loss. For available for-sale
equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market
and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivates that are linked
to and must be settled by delivery of
such unquoted equity instruments, they
are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at each subsequent
reporting date.
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3.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii) Cash and Cash Equivalents

(iv)

(v)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions,
and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement.

Borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, with any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the settlement or redemption
value being recognised over the term of
the borrowings in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing
costs.

Convertible Bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the
Company that contain both the liability
and conversion option components are
classified separately into respective items
on initial recognition. Conversion option
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BERAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

() Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v)

Convertible Bonds (Continued)

On initial recognition, the fair value of
the liability component is determined
using the prevailing market interest rate
of similar non-convertible debts. The
difference between the proceeds of the
issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
value assigned to the liability component,
representing the conversion option for
the holder to convert the loan notes into
equity, is included in the convertible
bonds reserve as a separate component
of equity.

In subsequent periods, the liability
component of the convertible bonds
is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity
component, representing the option
to convert the liability component into
ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bonds reserve
until the conversion option is exercised
(in which case the balance stated
in convertible bonds reserve will be
transferred to share premium). Where
the option remains unexercised at
the expiry date, the balance stated in
convertible bonds reserve will be released
to the retained profits. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of the convertible bonds are allocated
to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to
the liability component are included in the
carrying amount of the liability component
and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective
interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE—FE)\F+ - A=1+—HIEFEF
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3. FEEHBEE)
(9) Financial Instruments (Continued) () MBEIAE)
(vi) Other Financial Liabilities (i) BEttii%amE

Other financial liabilities (including trade
and other payables) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Equity Instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Consideration paid to repurchase the
Company’s own equity instruments is
recognized and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

B B A5 R R N B At FE A SRR
ZE M B ERER A ER
MEOXABHA AT E - R
MIRTEN AN Z B T AR
SIBRBUBR SN ©

(vii) BATAE

ARBET2HRATATRE
WER 2 FT 1S SRR B K BT
ZAUN

RARBEARRRARGRATAD
M2 REEERERER LI
o ERE  HE - BTk
AEARBARGRAT A2
SRR AR -

(» Financial Guarantees, Provisions and (n MKER BERIRAE
Contingent Liabilities

(i)  Financial Guarantees (i) BIEER

Financial guarantees are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to
make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial
guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee
(being the transaction price, unless the fair
value can otherwise be reliably estimated)
is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in
profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BERAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

() Financial Guarantees,

Provisions and

Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial Guarantees (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially
recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the term
of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note
3(r)(iii) if and when (1) it becomes probable
that the holder of the guarantee will call
upon the Group under the guarantee,
and (2) the amount of that claim on the
Group is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee,
i.e. the amount initially recognised less
accumulated amortisation.

Contingent Liabilities Acquired in
Business Combinations

Contingent liabilities acquired as part
of a business combination are initially
recognized at fair value, provided the fair
value can be reliably measured. After
their initial recognition at fair value, such
contingent liabilities are recognised at the
higher of the amount initially recognised,
less accumulated amortisation where
appropriate, and the amount that would
be determined in accordance with note
3(r)(iii). Contingent liabilities acquired
in a business combination that cannot
be reliably fair valued are disclosed in
accordance with note 3(r)(iii).
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE—FE)\F+ - A=1+—HIEFEF
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3. SHBER(E)
(n Financial Guarantees, Provisions and (N MEER BERIREGE(E)
Contingent Liabilities (Continued)
(iii) Other Provisions and Contingent (i) BMEEREAEE
Liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the WMAEEEBEFHARER
Group has a present obligation as a REE(E ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ&%&ﬁT
result of a past event, and it is probable EEFERLLCENZBEER
that an outflow of economic benefits will Al SEEfE 5 - AR Tﬁ fis &
be required to settle the obligation and %%ZHTFW BHEKXN BEgN
a reliable estimate can be made. Where TEABEAMEXECRE
the time value of money is material, ﬁlJEE <
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(s)

provisions are stated at the present value
of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.

Present obligation is disclosed as a 1w B] B 1B 787 A 8 M) 35 DA B
contingent liability where it is not probable TEE  HEEEERE

that an outflow of economic benefits will AISEfhEt - AR B EEAKRE
be required to settle the obligation or REARBE - ABEEHESE
the amount of the obligation cannot be BHEGEE AR ST R E—
measured with sufficient reliably. Possible B ZIERREMEE 28
obligation that arises from past events and B - BRIELE R &0 H T 88
whose existence will only be confirmed by MR - BRITNERRE A
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one NEE

or more future events are also disclosed
as a contingent liability unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits

is remote.

Related Parties (s) BAER

A party is considered to be related to the — IR AERNEEGRE -

Group if:

(i)  The party, directly or indirectly through () ZAHTEEXHEZERB/ MK
one or more intermediaries, (1) controls, is ZEFRNRA - (EH AL
controlled by, or is under common control l TAREE %'HZEEUFEI
with, the Group; (2) has an interest in the SHERES QR AEEES
Group that gives it significant influence #m EMEAEBEERY
over the Group; or (3) has joint control 2 L) REREFIAER

over the Group;

(i) The party is an associate; (i) %A BBENR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BERAAMEREBER AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(s)

(t)

Related Parties (Continued)
(i)  The party is a jointly controlled entity;

(iv) The party is a member of the key
management personnel of the Group or its
parent;

(v) The party is a close member of the family
of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) The party is an entity that is controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides, with directly or
indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv)
or (v); or

(vii) The party is a post-employment benefit
plan which is for the benefit of employees
of the Group or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that individual in
their dealings with the entity.

Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of
the Group that is engaged either in providing
products or services (business segment),
or in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards
that are different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal
financial reporting system, the Group has
chosen business segment information as the
primary reporting format and geographical
segment information as the secondary
reporting format for the purposes of these
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2008

3.

72

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

t)

Segment Reporting (Continued)

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets
and liabilities include items directly attributable
to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. For example, segment assets may
include inventories, trade receivables and
property, plant and equipment. Segment
revenue, expenses, assets, and liabilities are
determined before intra-group balances and
intra-group transactions are eliminated as
part of the consolidation process, except to
the extent that such intra-group balances and
transactions are between group entities within
a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is
based on similar terms as those available to
other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost
incurred during the period to acquire segment
assets (both tangible and intangible) that are
expected to be used for more than one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial
and corporate assets, interest-bearing loans,
borrowings, tax balances, corporate and
financing expenses.

M I5 R EE

3.

TEEHBERE)

(t)

D EWE (E)

N

DEbURES ~ T A
ERREEERBRE—
ﬁu?ﬁz BIEZEESREZD
o ffzn -

BENA
7 8P A K
uBZIE
DHMEERBREEFE
fHﬂZﬁE AR E - BE R -
M E - - é?&iﬁéﬁi’])ﬁ(\”
EREATHEHZEENGEFRE
BARXSZAEE [S%#Exﬁﬁ%l
NEFRZXSTIREEERT 28
— 08 DEMZEBIDEREA
SNT3 RI AR 2 FEAUERSK

DHEAZHETIHARBEERGRK
ARZEHE 2B REL D HBE
EMEL 2 B

APEEBETEBRYBREEER
E FEER B85 HEER
EERBEXE -
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BERAAMEREBER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is
required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

(a) Judgments

The following are the critical judgements, apart
from those involving estimations as discussed
below, that management has made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in these
financial statements.

(i) Impairment of Assets

In determining whether an asset is
impaired or the event previously causing
the impairment no longer exists, the
management has to exercise judgment in
the area of asset impairment, particularly
in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred that may affect the asset value
or such event affecting the asset value
has not been in existence; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset or
derecognition; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of
impairment, including the discount rates
or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially
affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.

Annual Report £ 2008

B

\
Al

A 55 80 RO aE

ol

1 A / H g L 4 [EF
NF+ZH="71T—HIFE

EREFH R

MERMRE3 ATl 2 AR E & ot R -
EEEANEAEEMIRES 2 EEN
BEZREEELDHIE - 5 RRR - &
HEst RIAABRRIREBELCR LIRS
Mz EMEESEEMIEL - BIRE
BB RINZEMET

Er RAERRRIRSEETELERR - &
sHh R ZERTTINMERT T < B MR
(RERTEF EZHIR) - SMETHE K
P& MEER(HETZE R R B&
ZHARE) -

(a) ¥

BF N RTamf R fdat 2 HE s - T
FIERHRBEBRENERAREE
S BRBRERPIELD MEZEFM
BREAMERZ BB IEE
RAERK o

() BHEHRE

NETEERAC RENBE
BYREZEHRETIBREAE
B BEETMEERETE
T CERTFHE: (VRS
BAT RV EEEBEZSH
RATEEEBEZEHRR
THEE:QEEZEREBE AR
BUAKBEREZ FIREE
THE o MR ERENRIESE
FREEREUHERMEL
i M@ RERIRE R =TE8
HERAZEEETERE &
EZEReREBARTHA
BELLRRNIR - BEEEEEMN
ETREREZRZ(BIER
RIBE R 2788 2 BHIR & 5 1%
RERBR) ZEE A E R E
BRI AZFREELEEA

=
R -

73




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEAHBEEREBEER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements MEHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 B2 —TTN\FF+-A=+—HIFEZF
4. Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates 4. EBERETTHERME(E)
(Continued)
(a) Judgments (Continued) (a) HEr(E)
(ii) Income Taxes (i)  FriE#H

Deferred tax is provided using the liability
method, on all temporary differences at
the balance sheet date between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting
pUrposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for
unused tax losses carried forward to
the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against
which the unused tax losses can be
utilised, based on all available evidence.
Recognition primarily involves judgement
regarding the future performance of the
particular legal entity or tax group in
which the deferred tax asset has been
recognised. A variety of other factors are
also evaluated in considering whether
there is convincing evidence that it is
probable that some portion or all or the
deferred tax assets will ultimately be
realised, such as the existence of taxable
temporary differences, tax planning
strategies and the periods in which
estimated tax losses can be utilised. The
carrying amount of deferred tax assets
and related financial models and budgets
are reviewed at each balance sheet date
and to the extent that there is insufficient
convincing evidence that sufficient taxable
profits will be available within the utilization
periods to allow utilisation of the carry
forward tax losses, the asset balance will
be reduced and charged to the income
statement.

BEEMEDRABGEENGEE
B ESREmBEERER
ZRAREAMEBEHEREEZME
TR ERRIEL A -

BREHIAEERBEE I REHH
M EE T T AR - AR
RATA AR 2 RERR A BE
B R IR B SR A AT AR B
B EE T AEHRR - R
EBS R ZHE B BERE
EMRAEEZRELRERL
MGEEZRKKRE - REE

ERBAERZEERTAL
ﬁ*lﬁﬁiiuﬁ EHIAEER
RGEERE - KeFEZHE
HMRAE  FERRRE K
EH - BBEREIREELAIEA
EET RIS E R < HifE - A& HE
EREREEERTELEHIAER
EZRAEREBEYHREE
BE - MHE TS AIERZE
BRTINBABAKE - HE
bR M AR A EE 2B
BER  AEESRFSSH
2 W B W RIARR o
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BERAAMEREBER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

4. Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates
(Continued)

(b) Estimation Uncertainty

The following are key assumptions concerning
the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
Group’s assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

(i) Impairment Test of Assets

The management determines whether an
asset is impaired at least on an annual
basis or where an indication of impairment
exists. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the asset. Estimating the
value in use requires the management to
make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the assets and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

(ii) Income Taxes

The management reviews the carrying
amount of deferred tax assets at each
balance sheet date and reduces the
amount to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be realised.
This requires an estimation of the future
taxable profits. Estimating the future
taxable profits requires the management
to make an estimate of the expected
future earnings of the Group and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of the
earnings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008

4.

5

76

M I5 R EE

BE_FENFLH=1T—HIFE

Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates 4. EBERETTHERME(E)
(Continued)
Estimation Uncertainty (Continued) (b) fEEtZTEHEBRERE(E)
(iii) Depreciation of Property, Plant and (i) Y% BERREITE
Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are MZE - BE RFRELEREM
depreciated on a straight-line basis over FARMBEERKAESERE
their estimated useful lives, after taking HEAERAFHRNTE B
into account of their estimated residual AIERFHEFHREEYRE
value. The determination of the useful lives BE#i EEESFIE
and residual values involve management’s ¥ BERZHE o FGRER
estimation. The management assesses RAEASEE - MMFTEL 2
annually the residual value and the useful TR RS 2 ET B TR
life of the property, plant and equipment BlZ ZREn] ge ¥ (b s IR &
and if the expectation differs from the ZEERARKEE 2T EBAK
original estimate, such a difference may -2 -
impact the depreciation in the year when
the estimate is changed and the future
period.
5 W&
An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year (a) AEERAFEZEXEED TN
is as follows: ™
2008 2007
—EEN\F ZTTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
B FT BT
Continuing operations BEKSEER
Sales of petroleum-related products  $4& A HiEE & 21,640 —
Discontinued operations BRIEREER
Sales of pulps and paper products HEFR KB M - 50,378

Annual Report £ 2008




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEGHMEEEB AR AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2008

M #58R R Pd oE

BE—FEE )\ FE+=-H=+—HIFF

5. Revenue (Continued) 5. W=(E)
(b) An analysis of the Group’s other revenue and (o) AEBRAFE 2 Hfbas kFR
net income for the year is as follows: ADHAT :
2008 2007
—EENE ZTTLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
B FT BT
Continuing operations BERKEEK
Bank interest income RITH B HA 820 548
Consultancy fee income ESE-N PN 304 —
Net foreign exchange gain P H a5 R — 1,314
1,124 1,862
Discontinued operations EBRIEREER
Sundry income HMETEUL A — 196
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HEH B AR W 415 =
1,539 2,058
77
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

6.

78

Disposal of Subsidiaries

The Group disposed of a wholly-owned subsidiary,
Yunnan Kanstar High Tech Products Development
Company Limited, in 2008 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary, Yunnan Changning Kanstar Paper
Company Limited, in 2007. The business of

development, manufacture and sale of pulps and
paper products was discontinued upon the disposal

M I5 R EE

BE—ZFENFr_A=1—HIFE

HE B A F

AEER _ZT \FHEZEMNBRARE
MRENTMERRABEARARDLIR-F
ZLFHERENBRAREHEERZEN
EARRA - % SUERHERR MK
mZEBER BT N\FHEEMEERN
RMERAEARABRRIILE - HE

of Yunnan Kanstar High Tech Products Development BT -
Company Limited in 2008. An analysis of the
financial effects arising from the disposal and the
results of the discontinued operations is as follows:

FMELZHMBRERERIEREEHZE

2008 2007
—EENF —ETEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
B FT JBMFoT
Net assets disposed of: FTHEZ FEE
Property, plant and equipment M B MR - 36,194
Prepaid lease payments EHEE - 2,290
Inventories =g - 7,957
Trade and other receivables JFEE L R % L A LS SR TE 20 17,410
Cash and bank deposits BE MRITER 45 3,455
Other short term loans Ha@EE R = (7,258)
Trade and other payables JE AT BR 3R % L A B~ SR IE (11) (13,708)
Amounts due to directors EEERIA = (1,313)
54 45,027
Release of exchange reserve & H R ERE (269) (144)
(215) 44,883
Total consideration, satisfied by: RRE IHAFXE
Cash e 200 26,000
Settlement of bank loans EEEITEXK - 15,600
200 41,600
Gain/(loss) on disposal HEWE, (EE) 415 (3,283)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEA RS RAFE
Cash received BWE S 200 26,000
Cash and bank deposits disposed of FT & 2B e RIRITF R (45) (3,455)
155 22,545
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

6. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued) 6. HEMEBLARE)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations TEEERIELEEL ZEF
2008 2007
—EENE “ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFT BT T
Revenue Weas - 50,574
Expenses F (14) (50,052)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATEF (E8) (14) 522
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR W (&
#B) 415 (3,283)
Income tax PRI — —
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued 7N B 4% IF 48 &
operations EB2u5h,/ (BE) 401 (2,761)
7. Finance Costs 7. BERAE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Consolidated

BEREEE BRIEREER ga

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

“EENF  -TTtF  ZEEN\f C-TTtF ZEEN\F CTTtFE

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BT BETT BEFT

Interest onbank and ~ BRTER

other borrowings 2HEMNZ
wholly repayable BITRHEAM

within 5 years HEFS - 1,278 - 209 - 1,487
Effective interest on BRkER

convertible bonds EIRFE 15,878 3,496 - - 15,878 3,496

15,878 4,774 - 209 15,878 4,983
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

8. Profit/(loss) Before Tax 8. KBANEF,(E518)

BrERDER, (B8 EHIBRIATIER -

Profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging:

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Consolidated

BELEEEK BRIZEER g
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“BE\f C-TTtE BB\ C"ITHE BB\ CETLE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFT BETT AEFL BEFT AEFL BETT
Staff costs (including EIKA
directors’ (BEEEH)
remuneration)
— Salaries and - e QA
other benefits il 5,799 951 - 3,006 5,799 3,957
— Retirement - BIRGTEIER
scheme
contributions 36 7 - - 36 7
5,835 958 - 3,006 5,835 3,964
Auditors’ remuneration % EEIHI & 350 300 - = 350 300
Depreciation of % BER
property, plant and REME
equipment 262 121 - 1,000 262 1,121
Amortisation of lease ~ tiFi 2 H
payment on land - = - 37 - 37
Operating lease THREF EER
payment for land HE
and buildings 1,682 - - - 1,682 -
Impairment losses on ~ EUMEZ 2 REEE
trade receivables - - 14 - 14 -
Carrying amount of ENFERAE
inventories sold 21,378 - - 45,791 21,378 45,791
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9. Income Tax 9. FrfEHt
Continuing operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BECEER BRIEREEE 5
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENF C-TTtE  ZEENF C—TEtF  ZEENF CTELF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BETFT BEFT BT
Current tax: REHE :
— Hong Kong - 55 - - - - - -
— Other jurisdictions ~ — EtialiEER (30) - - - (30) =
Deferred tax EEHE 1,252 281 - - 1,252 281
Income tax credit for ~ AEE
the year FiEREE 1,222 281 - = 1,222 281

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed the Revenue Bill 2008 and reduced
corporate profit tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5% which
is effective from the year of assessment 2008/09.
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2007:
17.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the
year.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% (2007: 30%). Taxation arising in
other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing
in the relevant jurisdictions.

On 16 March 2007, the People’s Republic of China
promulgated the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New Law”)
by Order No. 63 of the President of the People’s
Republic of China. On 6 December 2007, the
State Council issued Implementation Regulation of
the New Law. The New Law and Implementation
Regulation changed the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries to 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.
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Notes to the Financial Statements M#&EERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 B2 —TTNFF+-A=+—HIFEZF
9. Income Tax (Continued) 9. FBHE)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to ANF E A AT B4R S W am % 2 s A B
the profit per the consolidated income statement as R :
follows:
2008 2007
—EENF ZTTLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
B FT BT T
Profit/(loss) before tax: BREL RS A (E518) -
Continuing operations S IB R (320,315) 475,595
Discontinued operations BRI EER 401 (2,761)
(319,914) 472,834
Notional tax (charge)/credit on profit/(loss) &7 B m3EH#E & % 7
before tax, calculated at the tax rates ERARERAE 2
applicable to profit in the jurisdictions BrRBATEF(EE) 2
concerned ZEMBE(ZL), B 55,001 (83,030)
Tax effect of share of results of associates JE(LEHE N BIEE 2
MigE 2 — (385)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAMBRAX 2 MG 2 (50,931) (915)
Tax effect of non-taxable income EERBURAZ R IG 2 - 85,554
Tax effect of other temporary differences RIEREE =B 2 IS 2
not recognised 8 =
Tax effect of losses not allowable TAIFBE 2 B 2 (2,856) (1,115)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not A Fe AT AR FER %RIE
previously recognised BB E = 172
Income tax credit for the year REZEHER 1,222 281

82

Deferred tax for the year represents tax income
recognized on reversal of temporary differences
arising from convertible bonds.

No deferred tax has been recognized on loss for
the year (2007: Nil) due to unpredictability stream of
future taxable profits that will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilized.

There was no material unrecognised deferred tax for
the year.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEGHMEEEB AR AT

10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

B #5 8RR P o

BE—FENFf+ - A=1+—HILFE

10. EEREEHM

(i) Directors’ Emoluments (i) ESHMH
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the EXNSESNFAR(ZEEL
6 (2007: 12) directors were as follows: F A ZR)EEZ2HMAT :
2008 —2ENE Salaries  Retirement
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
HER
ok HvER  BRGTEIMN @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT
Executive directors: HOIEE:
CAO Xuejun L - 1,157 - 1,157
KUAI Wei £z - 363 - 363
LIN Zhang e - 272 2 274
Independent non-executive B FEHIT
directors: 5%
CHAN Kin Cheong Brieg 15 - - 15
WANG Yanhui THE 15 - - 15
ZHANG Xiaobao REE 15 - - 15
45 1,792 2 1,839
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10. Directors’

84

(Continued)

and Employees’

Emoluments

(i) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)

MR RME

BE—FTENF+-A=+—HILFEF

10. EBREEHFME)

(i) EEHFEME)

2007 e 3 Salaries  Retirement
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
HEk
ik Hithfghl  RIGTEIHRR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BETT BETT
Executive directors: HOTES:
CHIM Kim Kiu, Jacky ERIE - - - -
IP Kai Cheung EHE - - - -
SUN Tak Keung FER - - - -
CHENG Kwok Hing, Andy HE® - - = -
KWOK Ching Chung BEMD - - - -
KUAI Wei gtz - - - -
LIN Zhang Wz - 33 - 33
Independent non-executive BT
directors: EE
CHAN Chi Hung, Anthony [ = - - -
WANG Ai Guo TEHE - - - -
WAN Hon Keung BER - — - -
WANG Yanhui FHE - - - -
CHAN Kin Cheong BEa — - - -
— 98 — &)
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10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

(Continued)

M #58R R Pd oE

BE—FEE )\ FE+=-H=+—HIFF

(ii) Of the 5 individuals with the highest (ii)
emoluments in the Group, 2 (2007: Nil) was
directors of the Company. The emoluments of
these 3 (2007: 5) non-director individuals with
the highest emoluments were as follows:

10. EBRESHME)

AEERERESFMALF WA
“ERLFB)RARAES
ZE=R(CEZTLF: AR)RD
FEFESR AL ZFHBOT ¢

2008 2007

—EENFE TEELF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T JBEEF T

Salaries and other benefits Fre M EMET 1,272 601
Retirement scheme contributions RORGTE 5K 18 8
1,290 609

The emoluments of those 3 (2007: 5)
non-director individuals with the highest

Z=—H(—ETLF: AB)HMH
REFEFALTZHEMNFTIE

emoluments are within the following bands: :
Number of individuals
AE
2008 2007
—EENE “ETELF
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 B O TEEE
1,000,000 7T 3 5
11. Profit/(loss) attributable to Equity Holders of the 1. RATRESEAEMGRER(FHER)
Company
2008 2007
—EENE “EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
B TT BT
Amount of consolidated profit/(loss) RARB I IEHRERNEEZ
attributable to equity shareholders RiERB ARILERE
dealt with in the Company’s financial wmA(E18) £ 58
statements (23,853) (8,541)
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12. Earnings/(loss) Per Share

The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings/

M I5 R EE

12. BREF (HE)

M,/ (B8R) T9iRE T

(loss) per share are based on the following data:
2008 2007
—EENE —TTLF
HK$°000 HK$'000
B FT BT
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing AR GIREZRG A
and discontinued operations BIEAREERER
attributable to the equity holders of BRI
the Company 2w Fl (E518) (316,756) 473,961
Less: R -
Profit/(loss) for the year from AEBERIECEER 2
discontinued operations swm Al (E18) 401 (2,761)
Profit/(loss) for the year for the calculation =TEIFELLERE 2
of basic earnings/(loss) per share from BRELXRF,(EE)
continuing operations IR AFE
A (EtE) (317,157) 476,722
Number of shares f&1nE B 000 ‘000
TR Fhg
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning  RF #2217 EmA%
of the year 5,408,000 4,800,000
Effect of ordinary shares issued during FRETEBRRZZE
the year — 160,222
Weighted average number of ordinary STEERER
shares used in the calculation of &BF,(E518) kA
basic earnings/(loss) per share ZINHEE I EEAR S E 5,408,000 4,960,222
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁ%
shares on share options BELBR 2 VE 488 497
Weighted average number of ordinary ATEEREERT
shares used in the calculation of (EBE)FERZ
diluted earnings/(loss) per shares hniEF e EmARE B 5,408,488 4,960,719

Effect of diluted potential ordinary shares on
convertible bonds and warrants is considered to be
nil as the average market prices of ordinary shares
during the relevant periods is below the conversion
price of the convertible bonds and the exercise price

of the warrants.
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Notes to the Financial Statements M EHRFMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 HE—ZTENF+_A=1+—HIFFE

12. Earnings/(loss) Per Share (Continued) 12. BRER(&EE) (&)
The diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 RRITEAR QR BREE £ 2 BERD B
December 2008 has not been disclosed as the BAOREBRAFE 2 GREB MRS
potential shares arising from the exercise of the RS WEEEBREZE ST/ \F1+=
Company’s share options would decrease the loss A=1T—HBIFEEGREEESE -

per share of the Group for the year, and is regarded
as anti-dilutive.

13. Dividend 13. BRE
No dividend has been paid or proposed for the year AEREVERNIEZRNEMRE(Z
(2007: Nil). TELF | o
14. Business and Geographical Segments 14, EBERMED T
(a) Business Segments (a) ZEXKDIB
2008 ZEZ)F
During the year, the Group is principally FR - AEBEXTEHSAE=BETEX
organized into 3 major business divisions — BoEH — MWEERREED (2
(1) trading of pulps and paper products, (2) R R E/E&%%ﬁ LA K (3)
exploration of coal, oil and natural gas and TEEEW?@EW RZZEZNF
(8) trading of petroleum-related products. In F AEE T mfz“ﬁﬂi&i&uu
July 2008, the Group disposed of the trading %i& ¥EoHELEEE K E A
of pulps and paper products business. There R WEEBDEBINAERRE
are no sales or other transactions between the HAFEZXIEHHER 2 EH -
business segments. These business divisions ERZHMT :

are the basis on which the Group reports
its primary segment information for year as
presented below:
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14. Business and Geographical

(Continued)

(a)

88

Business Segments (Continued)

Segments

RAI5 R RO EE

BtE —FL)\F - A=+—HIFFE
14, ¥BRMEDIH(E)

(a) EBHEWM(E)

Income Statement Y75 7
Discontinued
operations
Continuing operations BAL
BESEER RExK
Coal, Petroleum- Pulps and
oil and related paper
natural gas products Total products  Consolidated
B by
BRRARR HEER @t RERAR &e
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Turnover ] - 21,640 21,640 - 21,640
Segment results AL (4,093) 90 (4,003) 401 (3,602)
Impairment losses on ~ EEZHERSE
goodwl (38,210) (38,210)
Impairment losses on ~ REREEHEE
interests in jointly Er JHEBSE
controlled entities (243,204) (243,204)
Unallocated corporate  AATRRERA
income 304
Unallocated corporate AT ERR
expenses (19,324)
Finance costs BERA (15,878)
Income tax Fi5H 1,222
Loss for the year pGEEY (318,692)
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ﬂﬁ%iﬁil‘ﬁ&
HE-FENF+-A=+—AULFE

14. Business and Geographical Segments 14. ¥RRWEDI(E
(Continued)
(a) Business Segments (Continued) (@) ¥KIE(E)
2008 (Continued) —EZENE(E)
Balance Sheet BEREX
Discontinued
operations
Continuing operations E4LE
BELELEK REEy
Coal, Petroleum- Pulps and
oil and related paper
natural gas products Total products  Consolidated
Rz B
RRRXAR HRER by RERER g&
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BRTT V-t oA V-t A V- e BRTT
Assets: BE:
Segment assets DEE 7,489 1,217 8,706 = 8,706
Interests in associates ~ REE A RER 81,915 81,915 81,915
Interests in jointly REREHERER
controlled entities 856,118 856,118 856,118
Unallocated corporate AR (NEEE
assets 6,044 6,044
Total assets BEE 952,783 952,783
Liabilities: af:
Segment liabilities nifaE 40,431 13 40,444 - 40,444
Unallocated corporate  AAEMNEE(E
liabilities 333,126 333,126
Total liabilities BaE 373,570 373,570
Other information H b &+
Discontinued
operations
Continuing operations BAL
BEGEEH EET
Coal, Petroleum- Pulps and
oil and related paper
natural gas products Total products Unallocated ~ Consolidated
B Vi
RRRAAR HBER fzt ELVE OB &&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
BETn V-l 4o BETr BETn BRTr BETn
Capital expenditure UNERT 809 810 - 278 1,088
Depreciation e 189 - 189 - 73 262
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14. Business and Geographical
(Continued)

Segments

(a) Business Segments (Continued)
2007

The Group was organised into 2 major business
divisions — (1) development, manufacture
and sale of pulps and paper products, and (2)
exploration of oil and natural gas. There are
no sales or other transactions between the
business segments. These business divisions
are the basis on which the Group reports its
primary segment information as presented
below:

M I5 R EE

B2 —ZEZE\F+-A=1—HIFFE
14, ¥BRMEDIH(E)

(a) EBIE(E)
—EELF

AEBDRMEXTZEBSEM —
(1) fF % - RUEREERREER -
AR (2) B R H M RAR » XD
METEEELEMR S - FX
BOMOIAEEREEETEDHE
P2 &5t BHZ50T ¢

Income Statement W 7
Continuing  Discontinued
operations operations
FE 241k
Pulps and
Oil and paper
natural gas products Consolidated
AHRRAR R Ao e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T
Turnover LR = 50,378 50,378
Segment results DEELE (1,173) 701 (472)
Gain arising on business ¥ AMEL 2 BE
combination 487,534 487,534
Share of loss of FEL B & A REE
associates (2,201) (2,201)
Unallocated corporate RO ERMBZEIA
income 6,149
Unallocated corporate KD B
expenses (13,193)
Finance costs BhE KA (4,983)
Income tax Fri575 281
Profit for the year RFEE m A 473,115

90

Annual Report £ 2008




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEGHMEEEB AR AT

M #58R R Pd oE

BE—FENFf+ - A=1+—HILFE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

14. Business and Geographical Segments 14. ¥BRBEDER(E)
(Continued)
(a) Business Segments (Continued) (a) EHKE2EE)
2007 (Continued) —EELE(E)
Balance Sheet BEBEZX
Continuing Discontinued
operations operations
B BR&IE
Pulps and
Oil and paper
natural gas products Consolidated
RARRAR R R A m w8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETT
Assets: BE:
Segment assets DEEE 78,286 1,594 79,880
Interests in jointly controlled  RAItFIRE| EEEHES
entities 3,143,824 3,143,824
Unallocated corporate assets AP REEEE 870
Total assets AL E 3,224,574
Liabilities: BfE:
Segment liabilities AHEE 95,755 1,527 97,282
Unallocated corporate AOECEERE
liabilities 259,688
Total liabilities waf 356,970
Other information H &R
Continuing Discontinued
operations operations
B B&IE
Pulps and
QOil and paper
natural gas products Unallocated Consolidated
BBRRAR P AP e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BRI BETT
Capital expenditure BARY 26 957 1 984
Depreciation e 9 1,111 1 1,121
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14. Business and Geographical Segments
(Continued)

(b) Geographical Segments

The Group’s major business divisions are
operated in 2 principal geographical areas —
(1) the People’s Republic of China, including
Hong Kong and Macau (the “PRC”), and
(2) other Asia Pacific countries. These

R 35 R | X

B2 —ZEZE\F+-A=1—HIFFE
14, ¥BRMEDIH(E)

(b) HESHEB

AEEREEEXHDBAMREE
EMELE — NPEARKNE
(BREBFBRRM [FE]) - UK
(@QEMIEABR - thFiETIAE
BREERESHLEH ZER - &

geographical areas are the basis on which B25mT :
the Group reports its secondary segment
information as presented below:
2008 —EENE
Segment Capital
Turnover assets expenditure
= 3 PWEE BXRMAX
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
EBETFT EBETT EBETT
PRC H 21,640 14,750 1,088
Other Asia Pacific H g KEIR
countries - 938,033 -
21,640 952,783 1,088
2007 —EELF
Segment Capital
Turnover assets expenditure
—E DEEE BRI
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT IT BT T
PRC F 50,378 80,750 984
Other Asia Pacific H g KEIR
countries — 3,143,824 -
50,378 3,224,574 984

92

Annual Report £ 2008




Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

15. Property, Plant and Equipment

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BEHEGHEEEB AR AT

M #58R R P oE

BE—FENFf+ - A=1+—HILFE

15. Y% BEKRHE

The Group AEE
Plant and  Construction
Buildings equipment in progress Total
BF BERZE EEIR st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BETFT BEFIT BT BT
Cost or valuation KA EE
At 1 January 2007 R-ZBt+E-F—H 18,000 17111 - 35,111
Additions NE = 584 400 984
Acquired on business REBEHREA
combination — 166 — 166
Disposals He (18,664) (18,171) (400) (37,235)
Exchange adjustments B AR 664 655 - 1,319
At 31 December 2007 and R-BT+F
1 January 2008 +-A=+-HBk
“ETN\F—-H—H - 345 = 345
Additions NE - 1,088 — 1,088
Disposals HE - (124) - (124)
At 31 December 2008 R-ZEZNF
+-A=+-H - 1,309 — 1,309
Comprising: B
At 31 December 2007 RZET+F
+-A=+—8
— cost — A - 234 - 234
— valuation 2006 - 2T FhE - 11 - 11
- 345 — 345
At 31 December 2008 RZZEN\F
+-A=+—-8H
— cost — AR - 1,295 - 1,295
— valuation 2006 - T FMHE — 14 - 14
- 1,309 — 1,309
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Crk e B

BE—ZFFENNFr_A=1—HIFE

15. 1% - BERRE(E)

The Group (Continued) REE(E)
Plant and  Construction
Buildings equipment in progress Total
EF RERRE REIR Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
JBEFT JBEFT BEFT BB
Depreciation and impairment: 17 & &JF/E
At 1 January 2007 R=ZZtF—-A—H - - - -
Provided for the year KEERE 518 603 = 1,121
Acquired on business REBEHEBA
combination — 25 — 25
Written back on disposals R SRR (525) (516) = (1,041)
Exchange adjustments ERTIEE 7 31 - 38
At 31 December 2007 and ~ R-ZEE+F
1 January 2008 ‘I' A=+—-Bk
RZZEENF—H—H — 143 — 143
Provided for the year REEEE - 262 - 262
Written back on disposals Nk 3o = (99) = (99)
At 31 December 2008 RZZEN\F
+ZRA=+—-H - 306 - 306
Carrying amounts: REE
At 31 December 2008 RZBENF
+ZA=+—-H - 1,003 - 1,003
At 31 December 2007 RZET+F
+-A=1+—H — 202 — 202

The Valuation 2006 was made by the directors of the
Company on a continued existing use basis as at 31
December 2006.

The directors considered the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2008
were not significantly different from their fair value at
that date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008

15. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

15. W% BERRE(E)

The Company b NNE|
Plant and
equipment
BEREE
HK$’000
BT T
Cost or valuation XA S A B
At 1 January 2007 R-ETtF—H—H 53
Additions NE 14
At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 RZZEZ+F+A=+—HK
RZZEZENF—A—H 67
Additions NE 174
At 31 December 2008 R_ZEZNF+_HA=+—H 241
Comprising: B
At 31 December 2007 RZEZT+F+=-H=+—H
— cost — KA 53
— valuation 2006 — _TTRFHE 14
67
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF+_A=+—H
— cost — KA 227
— valuation 2006 — ZEERFEMHE 14
241
Depreciation and impairment: ITE RRVE :
At 1 January 2007 RZEZT+F—H—H —
Provided for the year NEZEME 23
At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 RZZEZT+F+A=+—HK
RZZEZENF—A—H 23
Provided for the year NEE R 59
At 31 December 2008 R_ZEZNF+_A=+—H 82
Carrying amounts: FREE
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF+ZHA=+—H 159
At 31 December 2007 RZEZE+F+=-HA=+—H 44
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R I5 R RO EE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 B2 —TETNFF+_A=+—HIFEZF
15. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 15. Y% - MERRE(E)
The Company (Continued) AT (E)
The Valuation 2006 was made by the directors of the —EERFHERZEEARAF T A
Company on a continued existing use basis as at 31 =t —HBREARRESERFEERERARE
December 20086. HEHETT o
The directors considered the carrying amount of BEERR VE BERREBR-_ZZN
property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2008 F+-A=+—AHZEAEHEEAZAF
was not significantly different from its fair value at BIEEAER -
that date.
16. Prepaid Lease Payments 16. FEfLHEE
Prepaid lease payments comprise: ENLTESEE
The Group
rEE
2008 2007
—EENF —ETAF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
B FT JBMFT
Land held under medium lease outside BBEFEHEOHEREAR
Hong Kong in the People’s Republic of HIMEE BN E TS
China: 2 b
At the beginning of the year (note (a)) REA (K52 (@) — 2,245
Amortised during the year F N - (87)
Exchange adjustments PE i 8 — 82
Disposals e - (2,290)
At the end of the year REF - —

96

Note:

(@)

In 2006, adjustment was made, in order to comply
with the Group’s accounting policies to recognise
the cost of interest in leasehold land in the year
of commencement of lease and the amortisation
over the lease term, to restate the amortised cost
of prepaid lease payments as at 1 January 2006 to
HK$2,206,000 in respect of the interest in leasehold
land in the People’s Republic of China acquired
by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Yunnan Changning Kanstar Paper Company
Limited, in December 2002 for a term of 30 years
at a consideration of RMB2,440,330 but the cost of
acquisition had not been recognised and amortised
until 2005 when the cost was paid although the
lease was operating since December 2002.

Hiat -

(@) MN-ZZTRF AERBRAEEBENR
MARAFERRRNARREERE
bR ﬁ$z SR AEEEH
Eﬂﬁk JL'H /\i_ﬂ_EZfﬁi'ﬁi
mm@%%&ﬁiﬂ%%mZm&mo
Lo ZeBNBEBRARRIZZEKBA
FIEZEEEEEREXEERATNINR_EE

—F+Z AERE AR2440,330 T

FrBEARAFEARLMEAIHI0OF 2

HELER - BEHYA ST &

+ZARBEKR HKREXNAEE ST

§¢ﬁﬁiﬁ I BE 1% T ARER K
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P #5 8RR P o

BE—FENFf+ - A=1+—HILFE

17. Investments in Subsidiaries 17. AMIBARZRE
The Company
AT
2008 2007
—2EBN\F ZETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Unlisted shares, at cost FELETRG - KA 24,895 24,895
Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December RZZEZENF+ZA=+—H ' H§Ar&HE
2008, which materially affected the Group’s results CEBENFEEREEATEZTENE
or net assets, are set out in note 39. N2 FIBEIHIFES9 ©
18. Interests in Associates 18. RAEZEATER
The Group
AEEH
2008 2007
—2BN\E —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Share of fair value of net assets of EIEREBEIREBAZ
associates acquired on business ERNENFEEZAFE
combination (note (21)) (Bt (21)) 81,915 =
Place of
incorporation/ Registered Attibutable equity
Name operation Capital interest of the Group  Principal activities
SR L/
£ T &R EihAEERE TEXR
2008 2007
“EENE _TTLH
Great Wall Mining and Power Corp. Philippines PHP2,500,000 40% — Coal mining
FaE 2,500,000 %% RERR
Eastern Star Mining and Power Corp. Philippines PHP2,500,000 40% — Investment holding
FEE 2,500,000 %K REERK
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18. Interests in Associates (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of

associates are set out below:

Great Wall Mining and Power Corp.

Crk e B

BE—TZE/\FF-A=1—HIFE

18. REE LN AER(E)

BREBENR 2P BERBDIT -

Great Wall Mining and Power Corp.

12 December
2008

(date of
acquisition) to
31 December
2008
—E2ENF
+=A+=H
(WEEH) =
—EEN\F
+=BA=+—H
HK$°000
BETT

Turnover
Loss for the period
Loss attributable to the Group

201

AEBERGEE 81

As at

31 December
2008
R=BENF
+=B=+—H
HK$’°000
BT

Total assets
Total liabilities

BEE
RIE

3,370
(5,748)

Net liabilities

FEE

(2,378)

Net liabilities attributable to the Group

AEEEIGFAE

(951)
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18. Interests in Associates (Continued)

Eastern Star Mining and Power Corp. and its

subsidiary

M #58R R P oE

2 EENNFF A=A —HIFFE

18. REE A== (E)

Eastern Star Mining and Power Corp. &
H a2 A

12 December
2008

(date of
acquisition) to
31 December
2008
—EENF
+=A+=H
(WEEBE) =&
—EENF
+=RA=+-8
HK$°000
BETT

Turnover
Loss for the period
Loss attributable to the Group

A EARE B8 (187)
rEEEGEEE (75)

As at

31 December
2008
R=ZZNF
+=A=+—H
HK$°000
BETT

Total assets
Total liabilities

BEE 3,354
wefE (5,586)

Net liabilities

FEE (2,232)

Net liabilities attributable to the Group

AEBERMFEE (893)
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198

100

Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities

R I5 R RO EE

EFE—

FEN\FLA=+—HILFE

19. REREEZEHERER

The Group
rEH
2008 2007
—EENE —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
B FT BT T
At the beginning of the year REH 3,143,824 =
Acquired on business combination REEA FFERBA — 32,132
Fair value adjustment on business REBE 2 AT ER
combination = 3,111,692
Adjustment arising on corporate ESHEE AR
restructuring (note (a)) (Bt (@) (2,049,039) =
Additional investments HIMTE 4,537 =
Impairment loss (note (b)) BEEE (#1157 (b)) (243,204) —
At the end of the year NG 856,118 3,143,824
Notes: HaE -

(a)

The adjustment reflects the reduction of interests in
jointly controlled entity, which were recognised on
a business combination at 10 October 2007, after
a corporate restructuring exercise effected on 14
April 2008 as mentioned in note 20 from a 60% to a
21% participating interest in a consortium formed by
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, China Sino Oil
Company Limited. (formerly known as Chinaoil USA
(Macao) Company Limited”), with three independent
venturers for the operation of a production sharing
agreement in respect of a project for the exploration
of oil and natural gas in Brunei (the “Oil Project”).

The valuation of the Oil Project as at 31 December
2008 was US$522,660,000 (2007: US$776,123,000),
as per a valuation prepared by Greater China
Appraisal Limited, a firm of professional valuers,
of which approximately US$109,758,600 (2007:
US$465,673,800, equivalent to approximately
HK$3,632,255,640) was attributable to the interests
held by the Group, resulting in an impairment loss
of approximately HK$243,204,000 recognized at 31
December 2008 (2007: Nil).

ZAERBAK 20T EEARES
F_?7A¢EH+EH$&& e
EEFI TS (AR Eﬂfggt
F+ A+ BETESSHEER)IRD
%ﬁ%#%ﬁ%%@ﬁ¢ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ
PR A A (A8 AR BB A& A Sm =B CRY)
BRA ‘Dﬁ_%ﬁiA“E%méﬁ%
RICGRE R AR R RARIBE ([HHE
B DZEE#RS HHRAKY E 2 28
A B0% P E21% ©

$E$E«$%1E@Eﬂiﬁ/§§§;¥@ﬁﬁﬁ Gl
REZEE AAEBERAR -_ZTTNFE
+=A=+—H8Z{&E %522,660,000
x (= T T t F :776,123,000%
JT) 0 HF49109,758,600F L(—EE
+4E : 465,673,800 T (FHER L
3,632,255,6407T ) ) 57 B A AN £ B Fr %
ﬁéﬁé CERR _EENE+_A=1+—
% 2R (B BT 18 #0758 #5 243,204,000 7T
—= ?ti PEWEERIT) o
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20.

21,

Corporate Restructuring

The Group previously held a total 60% participating
interest in an oil project in Brunei (the “Oil Project”)
of which 39% represented interest attributable
to minority and the remaining 21% represented
effective interest owned by the Group.

On 14 April 2008, the Group completed a corporate
restructuring exercise by disposing of a total
39% participating interest in the Oil Project held
by an indirect subsidiary, Chinaoil USA (Macao)
Company Limited (“Chinaoil Macao”), to the
minority shareholders of Chinaoil Macao and
Chinaoil Macao’s immediate holding company,
Polyard Petroleum International Company Limited
(“Polyard Macau”), for the acquisition of share
capital in Chinaoil Macao and Polyard Macau held
by those minority shareholders. Chinaoil Macao and
Polyard Macau then became indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company with the Group’s
effective interest in the Oil Project being unchanged
at 21%. Details of the corporate restructuring
exercise have been set out in a circular of the
Company issued to its shareholders on 28 March
2008.

Business Combination

On 12 December 2008, Polyard International
Mining Company Limited (“PIM”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, acquired 100% equity
interest in Mexford Holdings Limited (“Mexford”)
at a total consideration of HK$120,000,000,
satisfied by convertible bonds at a total amount
of HK$120,000,000 to be issued by the Company,
of which convertible bonds of HK$108,000,000
were issued on 29 December 2008 (note 29) and
convertible bonds of HK$12,000,000 were issued on
4 February 2009 (note 37).
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21.

EEA

AEBRFA XK AMER(HHMEA
Bl AH60% 28D EF39% /D
BRREGED > MR T 21% A /ARE
BB 2 ER M o

RZZZN\FOA+HE  AEBEFEBH
ERMEMNBARPEB S L HER(R
FIBER B ([FRESRFT )R AIHIE B A
R H39% 2 Bk T BB P N o B
BRIz RN ERAR ERAHBERERA
FI(TAEEREM]) » NKREZE D ERR
FITFS 2 BRI N B BDRPIZ A - 5B
EERBHEEE - FEORF M E HRPIBERD
RAARRRZEZREENBAR - MASK
ERNAHAER CERBaERTE - DA
21% - EEXBREH 2 FIBFCHNARF]
RZZFZNF=ZA-+N\BTETERR
Z ALK ©

EBa ot

RZZEENF+_A+=-H ARAZ
2EMBRAAEHBRBBEER AT
([ & HEFRTEZ |) 45 Mexford Holdings
Limited ([ Mexford |) 2 100% & #E - 484
B A% 120,000,000 7T * VAR A #53
1THEEA A 781 120,000,000 7T 2 A # f% &
A BB 108,000,000 7T 2 AJ
BEHFR-_ZZNF+=_A=+ BT
(Mf#£29) » A% 12,000,000 7T 2 7] #
BEHAN =TT NLF = AMEBEZET(H
F£37) °
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21. Business Combination (Continued)

Mexford (which holds 40% interest in Eastern Star
Mining and 64% effective interest in Great Wall
Mining) became a subsidiary of the Company and
the acquisition was accounted for as a business

R I5 R RO EE

BE _FENFT _HA=1—HIFE

21. EBEH(E)

Mexford (54 Eastern Start Mining 2 40%
25 N Great Wall Mining 2 64% B BX &
WIKBARRBZHBAR - MKER=
T NF+-A+-BARIEEKEH

combination at 12 December 2008 and measured as FErE0T -
follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount
before Fair value
combination adjustment Fair value
WUEE AT
AE BEaT
ZEREE DAEEFAE AEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT JBEEF T BT
Net assets acquired: Frukig 2 FEE -
Interests in associates A RN - — 81,915 81,915
Amounts due from associates  J&EULEE & A B FIE 4,545 — 4,545
Amounts due to shareholder — FEfI AR B FRIE (4,496) = (4,496)
Amounts due to associates Fﬁ FAl/NC]
RIA (174) — (174)
(125) 81,915 81,790
Total cost on business HEEEGHBRA
combination 120,000
Goodwill arising on business  EEAHFELEZER
combination impaired EGECEIE))
(note (a)) 38,210
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2008

21. Business Combination (Continued)

Note:

(@) The assets of Mexford are primarily the interests in (@)
associates which have already been measured at
their fair value on 12 December 2008. Accordingly,
the goodwill arising on business combination of
Mexford was immediately impaired.

22. Amounts due from Subsidiaries

P #5 8RR P o

BE—FTEFN\Fr-_A=1T—HIFE

21. ¥BEH(E)

@ BERERZET

22. FEWHIEARE

MexfordZ EE X Z AR
)\E‘I—fﬂ +=R
ZANFEFE o Bt - Mexford R ¥ 7%
AR EE ZEEWARRE -

=N 4

The Company

ZRNE]
2008 2007
—EENF TETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T JBEEF T
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUT BT B A B FIE 738,677 638,844
The amounts are unsecured and non-interest HRIEAEERNLES - KAREIEE

bearing. The Company will not demand repayment
within 1 year after the balance sheet date and the

BRIERBEE -

amounts are therefore classified as non-current

assets.

23. Amounts due from Associates and Jointly

Controlled Entities

KREE BR—FRER - UL IR R

23. RUBEATRABZEHEERNE

The Group
AEE
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$’000
JBEFITT JET T
Amounts due from associates JFE S B X B FRIE 4,731 -
Amounts from jointly controlled entities ~ FEUZ H [F#% %'JE‘%EIAIE 1,341 —
6,072 =
The amounts due from associates and jointly FEUGB &N T N [ 4L 2 T8 A
controlled entities are unsecured and non-interest A - %%&#ﬁilﬁﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁﬁ

bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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R I5 R RO EE

BE—FE\F1T-_A=+—HILFE

24. Trade and Other Receivables 24, FEUWBRF R H it W FIE
The Group has a policy of allowing average credit AEEZBRABGETHESEPNTMA
period ranging from 2 weeks to 1 month to its Z—EAZFHRERE - o EFER
trade customers. In addition, for certain customers VIEABBR  WBRIFBEERCEHZE
with long-established relationship and good past F o AEER R -
repayment histories, a longer credit period may be
granted.
The Group The Company
rEE AATF
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —TT+F ZEBENF —ITTLHF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BB TFT JEMTF T
An aged analysis of U BR 7k 2 BRBR
trade receivables is as DT -
follows:
0 — 30 days 0ZE 30K - 5,749 — —
Other debtors, deposits  ELth & Y 7R IHE
and prepayments e RIER IR 1,075 786 582 767
Amount due from NG
subsidiary’s A
shareholders — 2,913 - —
Amount due from FEUR BT B 1~ A B
subsidiary's associates A @FIA - — 304 =
1,075 9,448 886 767

The amounts due from subsidiary’s shareholders
and subsidiary’s associates were unsecured,

interest-free and had no fixed terms of repayment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements M EHRFRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008

25. Cash and Bank Deposits

BE—FENFf+ - A=1+—HILFE

25. RERBITENK

The Group The Company
rEE AATH
2008 2007 2008 2007

—EENFE —TTLF ZBEN\F —TTLHF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’°000 HK$’000
BT B TT BETT BETT

Deposits with banks RITREAM SR
and other financial U e RE N
institutions 6,445 21,149 10 52
Deposits with bank RITIE
— pledged — 2R — 49,950 - —
Cash in hand FHEAS 155 1 = 1
6,600 71,100 10 58]

26. Bank and Other Borrowings

26. RITREMEE

The Group The Company
A EE AR
2008 2007 2008 2007

—2RN\F —TTtHF ZBEN\F —TTLH
HK$’000  HK$'000 ~ HK$’000  HK$'000
BETT BETT  BEFTT  BETT

Bank overdraft RITEX

= 133 = 133

The borrowings were subject to interest charges at

prevailing market rates.
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27. Trade and Other Payables

R I5 R RO EE

BE_FENFLH=1—HIFE

27. BNARIRREMENSKE

The Group The Company
rEME RAFE
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EBEENF —TT+F ZEBENF —ITTLHF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT JEBF T BT B FoT
An aged analysis of trade FEfTBREZ BR#
payables is as follows:  D#Ta0F :
0 — 30 days 0ZE 30K - 450 - =
Other creditors and E e RIE K
accrued charges et &R 14,902 19,288 1,551 2,323
Amounts due to related  FE{EEE A FIFRIE
companies 22,575 51,311 — —
Amounts due to FER M B A R A% 3R
subsidiary’s B
shareholders - 27,487 - —
Amounts due to FET IR R FRIE
shareholders 9,532 1,611 12,149 1,973
Amounts due to FETESE & A AR
associates 174 — - =
47,183 100,147 13,700 4,296

The amounts due to related companies, subsidiary’s
shareholders, shareholders and associates are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of

repayment.

28. Amounts due to Directors

106

28. ENESEFRE

ENBERR - IMBAFIIRER - AR M
LRBEZFAFELN 2B NEETEE

The Group The Company
rEH /N
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EBENE —TT+F ZBENFE —TTLHF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFT BT T B FrT BT T
Lin Zhang E 2 — — _

The amounts due to directors are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed term of repayment.

RNEZFREQEEN 2B LEETEE
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29. Convertible Bonds

A 55 80 RO o

BE—FTEFN\Fr-_A=1T—HIFE

29. WRRMES

HK$’000
BT T
At 1 January 2007 R-ZEZE+F—HF—H
Liability component of the Convertible BT MRESA
Bonds A issued BEEB D 251,600
Interest charged BRUFI B 3,496
Interest paid [=ENEVES) (1,885)
At 31 December 2007 RZZEZELF+-_HA=+—8H 253,211
Liability component of the Convertible BT MRES BARHNG
Bonds B issued 54,580
Interest charged BEUFI B 15,878
Interest paid [=ENEES (8,291)
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF+-_A=+—H 315,378

The convertible bonds issued to Mr. Lam Nam (the
“Bondholder”) at a nominal value of HK$276,352,231
for a term of 36 months on 10 October 2007 (the
“Convertible Bonds A”) were subject to interest
charge at the rate of 3% per annum accrued on a
day to day basis.

The Bondholder may at any business day after the
date of issue of the Convertible Bonds A convert
the whole or any part at an amount in an integral
multiple of HK$100,000 of the principal amount of
the Convertible Bonds A into ordinary shares of
HK$0.002 each in the share capital of the Company
at the conversion price of HK$0.43 per conversion
share.

The fair value of the liability component of the
Convertible Bonds A was measured using a
market interest rate of approximately 6.25% for an
equivalent non-convertible bond; the remaining
balance represented the equity conversion
component, is included in shareholders’ equity
under convertible bonds reserve.
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& &([r] 8 Ik & HAD ZHEES K
276,352,231 BT T M L E ([ EHF
EAD BH36MEA  BFFNEI%NE
BZEFFIE o

BEHEFAEATRETATRRKESARE
BEMEERRUBBRESARNSTES
# 100,000 T2 TR EE# 2 5 KR
BEREBERGBE0.43 L B2k
T E 50 BARA R AR FREESE
0.002 T2 LA -

AgREFARBERD 2R FHETERAR
FEIERMBAE 75 2 T 5 F K 4 6.25% &1
8 SRR RED  SAARBRKE
FiREZ R EEA o
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE—FE)\F+ - A=1+—HIEFEF

29. Convertible Bonds (Continued) 29. WBRRERE)
Another bonds of HK$108,000,000 at zero coupon Z—#ZT B E 2 108,000,000 T &
interest (the “Convertible Bonds B”) were issued on H(@RESBR_EE
29 December 2008 to China International Mining ~t+ A BZREESE 108,000,000 7T T
Holding Company Limited (the “Bondholder 2”), an THEEEERER ZIREERAAF
investment holding company beneficially owned by BEREEERERAR(ESFEB A
Mr. Lam Nam, at a nominal value of HK$108,000,000 2])  REASE -

for a term of 5 years.

The Bondholder 2 may at any business day falling BHFA A2 KRBT R ES B H E
on the fifth anniversary from the issue date of the RBAFREMEEBZTBRRESBEAE
Convertible Bonds B convert the whole or any part FBE® 100,000 T TEEH 2 S8 - 1%
at an amount in an integral multiple of HK$100,000 HBMEGRIBBRMNEE0.048THIRS
of the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds B S AR ED AR RRAFFREES
into ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each in the share ¥0.002 T2 BB ©

capital of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.048 per conversion share.

The fair value of the liability component of the AMRESBABIN 2 AFENEAR
Convertible Bonds B was measured using a SHMBRES 2 TGN EL14.62% 5t
market interest rate of approximately 14.62% for B RS LRI - STATRRE
an equivalent non-convertible bond; the remaining HlEE 2 RRERNA °

balance represented the equity conversion
component, is included in shareholders’ equity
under convertible bonds reserve.
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Notes to the Financial Statements M EHRFRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 HE—ZTZENF+-A=1+—HIFFE

30. Deferred Taxation 30. IEFERIIE
The major deferred tax liabilities recognised and RAFERBEFERRIENELERIE
movements thereon during the current and prior BERHEEFHHPMRAOT -

years are summarized below:

The Group and The Company AEERAAT
Convertible
bonds
Al R fE 2
HK$’000
BT
At 1 January 2007 R_ZEZ+F—H—H
Charge to equity for the year REZHR B #ER 3,761
Credit to profit and loss for the year REZFFAER (282)
At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 RZZZLF+A=+—HER
—ETN\F—-H—H 3,479
Charge to equity for the year REEMGR B 8,780
Credit to profit and loss for the year AREFF ABR (1,252)
At 31 December 2008 R_ZEZENF+-_A=+—8H 11,007
There are no significant deferred tax assets or REEFEBRERERENREHIBEER
liabilities not recognized at the balance sheet date. afE-
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Cek e B

BE—FTENF+-A=+—HILFE

31. Share Capital 31. BR&X
Number of shares Amount
BRHEE X
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\F —TTtF ZBENF —TT+F
’000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Fhig FAR BT T BT T
Authorised: JATE
Ordinary shares of SR EE
HK$0.002 each B 0.002 7T
2 Tk
— At beginning and — REI R
end of the year F R 10,000,000 10,000,000 20,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITREE
Ordinary shares of BREE
HK$0.002 each 7B #0.002 7T
2 Tk
— At beginning of — REA)
the year 5,408,000 4,800,000 10,816 9,600
— Shares issued — BT
on exercise of HEmEELT
options 5 - 75,000 — 150
— Shares issued — U
on acquisition NCI) 4
of interests in SENG!
associates/ FEE T
subsidiaries BTG - 533,000 — 1,066
— At end of the year — RER 5,408,000 5,408,000 10,816 10,816
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Notes to the Financial Statements ME#HERM:E

For the year ended 31 December 2008 HE—ZTZENF+-A=1+—HIFFE
32. Reserves 32. f#fE

(a) The Group (@ *&£H
Retained

Profits/ Convertible

Share Special  Revaluation Exchange  (Accumulated Warrant bonds

premium reserve reserve reserve losses) reserve reserve Total
REER/ Ede E:4

Ritie HHRE Eftfie EifkfE  (%ER) REEE F5fe a3t
HK8'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 1000
BT Vi sy EETT BT Vi sy EETT BT Vi a7

At1 January 2007 g
-F-H 269,770 985 14,508 42 (31,674) - - 243,631
Issus of warrants EAE - - = = = 4423 - 4423
lssue of orcnary shareson~~ WEREAT
acquistion of interests i~ ERMES
subsidiares LRk 100,204 - - - - - = 100,204
Issue of convertible bonds on  REENE ]
acquison of interestsin -~ ERAES
subsicaries ThRES - - = = = = 21491 21,491
Defered tax labiity on ssue. - ETTRRER
of convertble bonds ZEEHE
B - = - - - (3761) (3,761)
Release of exchange reserve (L EIEAFZ
ondisposal of subsiclary B FEEE - - = (144) = = = (144)
Transfer of surplus on HEZEFE(
tevauaton of buldings on ~~ BRER
disposal - - (14,508) - 14,508 - = =
Exchange diferences arisng £ B4 £ 8F7
on translation of foreign EEVER
operations £ - - - 3 = = - 3
Proft for the year KERRT = = = = 473961 - - 473,961
At 31 December 2007 WZFRtE
TR
==k 359,974 985 - 209 456,795 4423 17730 840,116
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32. Reserves (Continued)

(a) The Group (Continued)

MR RME

BE—FTENF+-A=+—HILFE

32. REE(E)

(@) #A%KE(#E)

Retained
Profits/ Convertible
Share Special  Revaluation Exchange  (Accumulated Warrant bonds
premium reserve reserve reserve losses) reserve reserve Total
REER/ Ak TR
i RAGE BftRE ERGE  (ZHER) BifE E5RE &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
BETT BETT 8T BETT BETT 8T BETT BETT
At 1 January 2008 HEENE
—-R-H 369,974 985 = 209 456,79 4,428 17730 840,116
Issue of convertible bonds on ~ EERB AR
acquisition of interests in BamE
subsidary TERES = = - - - - 83,420 83420
Deforred tax liabiltes on issve  E{THRRER 2
of convertible bonds EiBaR - - = = - (8814) (8814
Deferred tax effect on change HEEEZETHK
in tax rates g2 - - - - - - 34 3
Exchange differencearising ~ AEHNEBHES
on ranslation of foreign LERES
operations - - - 7 - - - 7
Release of exchange resenve. HEHBATIZES
ondisposal of subsidary ~ FEEEE - = = (269) = = - (269)
Loss for the year KERER - - - - (316,756) = = (316,756)
369,974 985 - 15 140,039 4423 62,370 567,806
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 HE—ZTZENF+-A=1+—HIFFE
32. Reserves (Continued) 32. f#E(E)
(b) The Company (b) Z&AF
Convertible
Share  Accumulated Warrant bonds
premium losses reserve reserve Total
G-
BRiiE 2itEE RARERRE EEa ] ot

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT ERTT ERTT ARTT ERTT

At 1 January 2007 RZETLE—-F—H 284,650 (5,798) - = 278,852
Issue of warrants BoRhER - = 4,423 = 4,423
Issue of ordinary shares on  WEEHH B A AE M

acquisition of interests BTEAR

in subsidiaries 100,204 - - - 100,204
Issue of convertible WEKBARIERT

bonds on acquisition of  E{TAIEKES

interests in subsidiaries - - - 21,491 21,491
Deferred tax liability on ETMARES ZETT

issue of convertible WEAE

bonds - - - (3,761) (3,761)
Loss for the year AEEER = (8,541) - - (8,541)
At 31 December 2007 RZTZtE

+-f=t-F 384,854 (14,339) 4423 17730 392,668

At 1 January 2008 “ZZ\&—-F—H 384,854 (14,339) 4423 17,730 392,668
Issue of convertible WEENBARERET

bonds on acquisition of Ak ES

interests in subsidiary - - - 53,420 53,420
Deferred tax liability on EMARES ZETT

issue of convertible WEAE

bonds - - - (8,814) (8,814)
Deferred tax effect on MEREH ZET

change in tax rates WEyE - - - 35 35
Loss for the year AEEER - (23,583) - - (23,583)

At 31 December 2008 R=ZZENE+=R
=t-A 384,854 (37,922) 4,423 62,371 413,726
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32. Reserves (Continued)

32. fEE(E)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

114

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company
is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to
the provisions of its Memorandum or
Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution or
dividend, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve represents the
difference between the paid up capital
of the previous holding company of
the Group acquired and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of the
group reorganization for the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Growth
Enterprise Market in 2002.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve has been set up
and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted for property,
plant and equipment in note 3(h).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 3(k).

(c) REZHEREHN

(M)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

KR 17EE

BIEFAESHE R RAEIER)
F22F KRR ZRDHER
A D IR SRS B B FRXER -
HEERBE QA RABERE XA
SMAAZRTE  RREREDIK
SRR B8 - ANAREA L
NEZBEBEESS ZEHE
jﬁ% °

#BtE e

FRIEERE R EARSE B AT
TRAR 2B RRAER BE
BARARRBRONR _EZE-_F%F
BIZER BT EEEARRE
W EIEMEIT A RAIRG
HEZZEZ -

EfEE

EfMRBELERY - XREM
A3 I ME - BFE R&
WA BRTERREEIE ©

EL#E
EXFREEEmBBREHINE
BUMBBRERMEEZINEE

B MEBRIENEIK AEZ
SRIRREIE ©
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32. Reserves (Continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(v) Warrant reserve

The warrant reserve represents the net
proceeds received and receivable on
issue of warrants to subscribe for the
Company’s shares. The warrant reserves
will be transferred to share premium when
the warrant is exercised or released to the
retained profits when the warrant remains
unexercised at the expiry date.

(vi) Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve has been
set up and is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies adopted for
convertible bonds in note 3(q) (v).

(d) Distributability of reserves

At the balance sheet date, in the opinion of the
directors, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders amounted
to approximately HK$346,933,000 (2007:
HK$370,515,000).
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HE—ZTENF+_A=1+—HIFFE

32. fi&t

(c)

(d)

(42)

\E’/

REZMERBIN(E)

(v)

(vi)

AR

R EFERHEETRRESE

wu\aﬁ$ jHXT ZE}L&&H
W 1S SRIEF R o RARHE B
RN SR A A B AT (B
ERM B EHNBAEERE
m B EBDARTTEREEEERE
o

IR B35 1 1
ABBRESFFHEEERY - X

AR AR BT 5T 3()(v) T 3t AT 32 A%
BEFRAN ST BRI

A 7 K

REER BEFER A AQ
Tﬁ"/ﬁ%ﬂx$2ﬁ1ﬁi’7%/’é%
346,933,000 T(ZEE+F : Bk
370,515,000 7T) °
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33. Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26
June 2002 for the purpose of providing incentives to
the directors and eligible participants, under which
the Company may grant options to the directors
and employees of the Group and also other eligible
participants to subscribe for shares of the Company.
The Scheme became effective on 12 July 2002 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in effect for 10 years from that date.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include the following:

(i) any employee or proposed employee (whether
full time or part time) of the Group or any entity
(“Invested Entity”) in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest (including
any executive director but excluding any non-
executive director of the Group or any Invested
Entity);

(i) any non-executive director (including
independent non-executive director) of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(iii) any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

(v) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;
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33. Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(vii) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business
development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

(viii) any company wholly owned by one or more of
the eligible participants referred to in (i) to (vii)
above.

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time to
time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to
time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive
directors or their associates in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

As at 31 December 2008, no options had been
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer.
A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of each grant. Options may be exercised
at any time during a period which may commence
on a day after the date of grant of the share options
but shall end at any event not later than ten years
from the date of grant of the options. The exercise
price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant,
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
grant, and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.
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33. Share Option Schemes (Continued)
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On 26 June 2002, prior to its listing, the Company
granted options to certain executive directors
and employees of the Group to subscribe for an
aggregate of 251,100,000 shares (note) in the
Company under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
The terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are
the same as the Share Option Scheme as described
above except that:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

the eligible participants are confined to certain
directors, senior management, employees,
consultants and advisers of the Group;

there is no minimum subscription price;

the general scheme limit, the individual limit
applicable to each proposed grantee and the
restrictions on grant of options to a connected
person do not apply; and

The directors may only grant options under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time
within a period from 26 June 2002 to 12 July
2002.
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33.
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33.

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

Details of share options granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme to certain directors and
employees to subscribe for shares in the Company
are as follows:

33.

BE—FTEFN\Fr-_A=1T—HIFE

BREE(E)
REERXAHAZENBEREABIRTET

EXLEEBRE  URBARRIKRN
BT

Number of options

BREHE
Outstanding
Outstanding as at
as at 31 December
1 January Exercised Lapsed 2008
2008 during during R®
RZBENE the year the year ZEE\F
-A-H rEE rfE +ZA=t-A
e RAT g2 BAN SESHcd
Employees 12 July 2002 — 11 July 2008
B8 “EE_#tRA+-HE_FZ/\FtA+—H 500,000 - 500,000 -

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the Company’s or the Group’s balance
sheet until such time as the options are exercised,
and no charge is recognised in the income
statement in respect of the value of options granted
in the year. Upon the exercise of the share options,
the resulting shares issued are recorded by the
Company as additional share capital at the nominal
value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise
price per share over the nominal value of the shares
is recorded by the Company in the share premium
account. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior
to their exercise date are deleted from the register of
outstanding options.

Note:

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
7 October 2004, each of the initial issued and unissued
shares having a par value of HK$0.01 were subdivided
into five subdivided shares having a par value of HK$0.002
each with effect from 8 October 2004. This share
subdivision gave rise to adjustments to both the exercise
price and the number of underlying shares granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, and accordingly every
option originally granted was increased to five options.
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34.

35.

120

Retirement Benefit Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make
contributions at HK$1,000 or 5% of the relevant
payroll costs, whichever is the lower, to the scheme.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
People’s Republic of China are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the
local government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

Related Party Transactions

Transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the
Company, have been eliminated on consolidation
and are not disclosed in this note.

Remuneration for key management personnel of
the Group, including the Company’s directors and
certain highest paid employees, is set out in note
10.

In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group had the following material related party
transactions during the year:
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 HE—ZTZENF+-A=1+—HIFFE
35. Related Party Transactions (Continued) 35. BEARF(E)
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFITT BT T
Consultancy fee income BEREEWA 304 =
The consultancy fee income was charged by Polyard BEEEWATHEBAHBRBREEFRA
Petroleum International Group Limited for services FERERAHEREREARRIERS
rendered to a jointly controlled entity operated by R R EI T ISR 2 IRFS UL ER o

Polyard Petroleum International Company Limited in
the Philippines.

36. Commitments 36. AIE
(a) Capital Commitments (a) BAEREE
At the balance sheet date, the capital REEH Bl AMHERR AR R
commitments outstanding contracted for but REBE M ABITENELENT

not provided for in these financial statements
are as follows:

The Group The Company
rEE AT
2008 2007 2008 2007

—2B2\F —TTLHE ZFTENF —TTLHF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T BETT BETFT

Acquisition of property, UEE¥% - B =

plant and equipment K& - 816 - 816
Contributions to jointly H#& F£[F
controlled entities 7 I E R 58,285 92,589 — =
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 B2 —TTN\FF+-A=+—HIFEZF
36. Commitments (Continued) 36. &IE(E)
(b) Operating Lease Commitments (b) &EHNEE
At the balance sheet date, the total future REER - BEDTEHELEHEL
minimum lease payments under non-cancelable ARARIXNZzZEHESEBEN
operating leases are as follows: N
The Group The Company
rEE ARATH
2008 2007 2008 2007

—EENE —TTLF ZBENF —TTLHF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BT BT

Properties ES
— Within 1 year — —FRr 1,710 651 1,361 651
— After 1 year but - — &%
within 5 years BERFRN 1,259 — 1,076 —
2,969 651 2,437 651
37. Events after the Balance Sheet Date 37. #HERARSEE
On 4 February 2009, convertible bonds amounted to RZZEZNF_AEB: BEAEEK
HK$12,000,000 were issued to China International 12,000,000 7t 2 AI 2 A& B 5 B 217 T A
Mining Holding Company Limited for settlement BB EEERAR AR - LBEKE
of the balance of consideration payable for the Mexford Holdings Limited 2 JEfH (B 4
acquisition of Mexford Holdings Limited (note 21). R (FIzE21) ©
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38. Financial Risk and Capital Management

(a)

Financial Risk Management

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial
risks which result from both its operating and
investing activities. The board of directors
and management meet periodically to analyse
and formulate strategies to manage and
monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner. Generally, the Group
introduces conservative strategies on its risk
management. As the Group’s exposure to these
risks is kept to a minimum, the Group has not
used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes. The Group does not enter
into or trade derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

The Group’s major financial instruments
include cash and bank deposits, trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables,
borrowings and convertible bonds. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The main risks associated
with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below:

(i) Market Risk
o Currency Risk

The Group’s main trading operations
are in the PRC and have no significant
exposure to any specific foreign
currency other than Renminbi.

All the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents are deposits with major
banks located in the PRC, including
Hong Kong and Macau.
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38. Financial Risk and Capital Management

(Continued)

Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(i)

Market Risk (Continued)

Currency Risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the
Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2007:
5%) increase and decrease in
Hong Kong dollars against RMB.
The sensitivity analysis includes
outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items. A
positive number below indicates
an increase in profit and other
equity where the Hong Kong dollars
strengthen 5% (2007: 5%). For a 5%
(2007: 5%) weakening of the Hong
Kong dollars against RMB, there
would be equal and opposite impact
on the profit and other equity and the
balances below would be negative.

M I5 R EE

E_FE\FF A=+ —AUFE

AR EREE(E)

B B B (4F)

(i

5 (E)

E¥mE (&)
BRI

TR A BB N
AREFABKES%R(—ZEZ
+F  5%) ZHEE - &
B JE AT B IR AN DI (B
ZMARBEEEIEE o A
TZEBBREEHE
5% (ZZTTLF : 5%)8
i A R E ARSI o
R AREEZE5%
(ZZTTLF:5%) 8
18 5 0 ) e L A A 2 W K
HERBRZZE M
TZEBREEEE -

Impact of RMB

ARBZEE
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETFT JBMFoT
Sensitivity rate B L X 5% 5%
Profit or loss (1) i M S ETHE (1) 9 1

(1) This is mainly attributable to the (1)
exposure outstanding on receivables
and payables denominated in RMB
not subject to cash flow hedge at
year end.

PR ©

HEZRAARBINEZ
FEW R IR N RN IR A
FR|SREL P 2 AR
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38. Financial Risk and Capital Management 38. MKEKRERERE)
(Continued)
(a) Financial Risk Management (Continued) (@ HMERREE(Z)
(i) Market Risk (Continued) (i) THEEEE)
Fair Value Interest Rate Risk o  LNFEFEREE
The fair value of financial assets MBEERMBAGR
and financial liabilities (including BOUTAETR)2AFEE
derivative instruments) are principally BIRBEADREEBER - A
determined in accordance with RERAMSER S 2B
generally accepted pricing models b REREIR - WK
based on discounted cash flow EREAFDTMERE °
analysis using prices or rates mEAESTET R 2 A FE
from observable current market B A HEEEEN (I
transactions as inputs. For an option- MOz — sFTRETRR )&
based derivative, the fair value is 1T1hET ©
estimated using option pricing model
(for example, Black-Scholes Model).
The Group’s fair value interest rate AEE 2 AFEMNEE LR
risk relates primarily to convertible TEEABEESFBRE
bonds.
Except as detailed in the following BRIRARESIN EF
table, the directors consider that the RRRNEE M BRERA
carrying amounts of financial assets BELUWBEERMBE
and financial liabilities recorded in B ERmEREAFER
the consolidated financial statements =
approximate their fair values:
2008 2007
—EENFE ZETLF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
BREE ATE EREE ~E
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T BT JEMF T
Financial MEaE
liabilities
Convertible AR &
bonds % 315,378 281,550 253,211 254,900
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38. Financial Risk and Capital Management
(Continued)

(a) Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(i) Market Risk (Continued)
° Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk relates primarily to variable-
rate of deposits and borrowings. It
is the Group’s policy to minimise its
net borrowings at floating rates of
interest so as to reduce the fair value
interest rate risk.

° Price Risk

The Group did not have investments
in equity securities for treasury
purpose and therefore is not exposed
to equity price risk. The management
have a policy to monitor the Group’s
exposure to price risk by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with
different risk and return profiles
and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

(ii) Credit Risk

The carrying amounts of trade receivables
included in the consolidated balance
sheet represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties’ failure to perform
their obligations in relation to its financial
assets. No other financial assets carry a
significant exposure to credit risk.
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38. Financial Risk and Capital Management
(Continued)

(a) Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit Risk (Continued)

In order to minimize the credit risk, the
management of the Group has policies in
place to ensure that sales of products are
made to customers with an appropriate
credit history. The management has
also delegated personnel responsible
for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt at each balance sheet date to
ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk
by geographical locations is mainly in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
with exposure spread over a number of
customers.

Liquidity Risk

The Group will consistently implement a
prudent liquidity risk management and
ensure that it maintains sufficient cash
and cash equivalents to meet its liquidity
requirements. Banking facilities have also
been arranged with different banks in
order to fund the liquidity requirements.
The management monitors the utilization
of borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.
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38. Financial Risk and Capital Management

128

(Continued)

(b)

Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the
Group monitors capital on the basis of the net
debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as
net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total liabilities (including current
and non-current liabilities as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet) less cash and
cash equivalents. Total equity represents the
equity as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet.

M I5 R EE
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38. Financial Risk and Capital Management

(Continued)

(b) Capital Management (Continued)

B #5 8RR P o

B FE\FF A —HIL R

38. BiEREEREE(E)

(b) BEAXREE(E)

During 2008, the Group’s strategy, which was RZZFEZNFA AEB 2K

unchanged from 2007, was to maintain the net
debt-to-equity ratio at an appropriate level. The
net debt-to-equity ratios at 31 December 2008

and 2007 are as follows:

(BEZZEELFREZTE) AT
BIEEHEE L RERFRNBEEKFE -
R-BEENFRE _EE+F+ A

St-RZFEBEES L RN

T

2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$’000
B FT JEMFoT
Total liabilities RIET 373,570 356,970

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERRESEZED
(Note 25) (Htit25) (6,600) (70,967)
Net debt FETS 366,970 286,003
Total equity HERE S 579,213 2,867,604
Net debt-to-equity ratio FERE R X 63% 10%

The increase in the net debt-to-equity ratio
at 31 December 2008 resulted primarily from
the issue of convertible bonds as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of a subsidiary
(note 21) as well as the elimination of minority
interests on a corporate restructuring exercise

(note 20).
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39. MBMARFR

39. Particulars of Subsidiaries

R-ZBEENF+-_A=+—H  AQFRZ
B ARGEBMT

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31
December 2008 were as follows:

Proportion of nominal
value of issued capital/

Issued and  registered capital held
fully paid by the Company
share capital/ ZF’D\/E_J_ﬁﬁ Z
Place of registered B&M &ZF/
incorporation/ capital EMER
operation BEROR B A
Name of subsidiary HRAL/ Forms of legal entity #Z®A,/  Directly Indirectly Principal activities
WEARER R EEERIA EMER Ef Mg TEEH
Kanstar Environmental British Virgin International Business US$1,000 100% —  Investment holding
Technology Group Islands Company 1,000% 7 REARR
Limited ABRABE  BREHLT
Win Easy International British Virgin International Business US$1 100% —  Investment holding
Limited Islands Company 1% REER
ZBRAEE  EREBAA
Lucky China Investments British Virgin International Business US$1 100% - In\{estment holding
Inc. Islands Company 1£n REER
AERAEE  ERABLA
Mexford Holdings Limited  British Virgin International Business US$50,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Islands Company 50,0007 REARR
AERLEE  ERABAR
Kanstar Hong Kong Limited  Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1,000,000 = 100% Investment holding and
BEEAGRAA BE Company 71,000,000 provision of management
BREMAR services
REGRREMER RS
Addata Development Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$10,000 = 100%  Inactive
Limited B Company 10,0007 EE¥
MAZERBRAF AREERA
Modern Lucky International  Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$2 = 100%  Investment holding
Limited B Company A% 2T RERR
MERERBRAR BREAAF
Polyard Resources Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1 = 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited i Company A% RERR
(formerly known as BREAAR

“Polyard Petroleum

Trading Company

Limited”)
RAZRERAT

(A BRAHES

BRAR])
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Notes to the Financial Statements M EHRFMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 HE—FL)\F+—A=1+—HIFE
39. Particulars of Subsidiaries (Continued) 39. MEBARFEE(E)

Proportion of nominal
value of issued capital/
Issued and  registered capital held

fully paid by the Company
share capital/ KRRBEL

Place of registered BRIRE/
incorporation/ capital AMER
operation BRAR P EL Al

Name of subsidiary HWERL/ Forms of legal entity #ZH®A,/  Directly Indirectly Principal activities

MEARER REw EEERI dMEE B B TEEHR

Polyard Petroleum (Hong Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1 = 100% Trading

Kong) Limited BB Company BEAT 25

BRAR(EE)BRAH AREEAR

Polyard International Mining  Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding

Company Limited Bk Company 781,000,000 7T REAER
(formerly known as BREFAT
“Polyard Petroleum
Mining Company Limited”)
AREREXERAH
(AR A EANES
ERAR])

AZERABILIARAR  People's Limited Liability RMB1,000,000 = 51% Trading of petroleum-
Republic Company AK%1,000,0007C related products
of China ERELAF BELREEER

hEARAA

Polyard Petroleum Macau Limited Liability MOP10,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding

International Company 23 Company 10,000,000 2 1T REER
Limited NG

BRARERERAR

China Sino Ol Macau Limited Liability MOP10,000,000 - 100%  Petro-chemical product
Company Limited 1! Company 10,000,000:2M7T dealing
(formerly known as BREEAH EERMIEM
“Chinaoil USA (Macao)

Company Limited”)

MEHERHERAR
(RIR[ e S A EE
(RFM)ERAA])

Polyard Mining Macau Limited Liability MOP10,000,000 = 100%  Inactive
Company Limited BP9 Company 10,000,000:2M 7T RS
(formerly known as BREFAF
“Polyard Holdings
Limited”)

AEBEEXERAA

(R ARERBRAR])
FE BEMBRRBITEMNERS

)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities at the end of the year.
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Five Year Financial Summary AFHMBHRE

The summarised consolidated results, assets and AEBRNBEREABFEEZLREEE  BE
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as FEBZHME(RirEAEE 2 CBEZM B R
extracted from the audited financial statements of the R)EHAT -

Group, are set out below:

Results E

For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t-HLEE
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
“TTMmE TR CZETNF  ZTTtF CZEBEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BEFT JBEFT BEFT BEFT BEF
(Restated) (Restated)

(E£751) (&71)
Turnover EER 50,313 53,671 43,295 50,378 21,640
Profit/(loss) attributable to R F/ (B18)
— equity holders of the — AREIREE
Company HEA 963 103 (18,428) 473,961 (316,756)
— Minority interests — VEREER = = — (846) (1,936)
963 103 (18,428) 473,115 (318,692)
Assets and Liabilities EEREE
At 31December
R+=BA=+-8
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
“EENE  —FTTHE  —TERF T LF  ZEENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (E71)
Total assets BEE 78,277 85,237 288,088 3,224 574 952,783
Total liabilities Y (23,364) (30,059) (34,857)  (356,970)  (373,570)
Net assets FEE 54,913 55,178 253,231 2,867,604 579,213
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